
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

April 27, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Tybee Island Maritime Academy:  Baseball and Softball Champions 
2. Planning Commission Members 

 David McNaughton 
 Susan Hill 
 Marie Gooding 
 Marti Williams 

3. Tiffany Hayes:  Recognition of C Watch.  Officer Shannon and Cpl. Page 
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

4. Minutes, Special Meeting, April 13, 2023 
5. Minutes, City Council Meeting, April 13, 2023 
6. Attachments to Minutes 

 
Consideration of Boards, Commissions and Committee Appointments 

7. Anthony Turpin Planning Commission Application 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times of 5 
minutes. 

8. Gerald Schantz:  Affordable Housing and Taxes 
9. Mariah Hay:  Disruptive Amplified Outdoor Music and Zoning of Homes on Laurel Avenue 

 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda, please come forward.  Please 
limit your comments to 3-5 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

10. Crowder Gulf Standby Debris Removal Contract, Timely removal and lawful disposal of 
all eligible storm-generated debris 

11. Fireworks MOU with Savannah Chamber  
12. Purchase Backhoe Loader, FY 2023, DPW Capital Outlay Project, $99,500.00, 350-4210-

2500 
 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

13. Resolution, 2023-06, Georgia Cities Week 
14. First Reading, 2023-09, Section 3-090, Elevator Requirements 
15. First Reading:  2023-10, Sec 2-010, Change of Setback Definition to Allow for Elevators 
16. First Reading, 2023-21, Sec 58-179, Fees 
17. First Reading 2023-22, GMEBS-R:  City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement Plan 

Amendment Ordinance with Adoption 
18. Second Reading, 2023-05:  Sec 5-050(C) Expanded Notification of Owners or Occupants 
19. Second Reading:  2023-06:  Sec 5-050, Single Family to Multifamily Rezoning 
20. Second Reading:  2023-07, Sec 5-060 Appeal of Zoning Decision 
21. Second Reading:  2023-08, Sec 5-060, Required Number of Public Hearings 
22. Second Reading:  2023-11, Sec 3-TBD, to Restrict STR Permits in the R-1, R-1B and R-2  
23. Second Reading:  2023-12; Sec 3-TBD, to allow for an Exception to the STR 

Abandonment Clause in Cases of Certain Calamities 
 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

24. TIMSC Minutes, March 20, 2023 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

- Page 2 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 3 -



File Attachments for Item:

3. Tiffany Hayes:  Recognition of C Watch.  Officer Shannon and Cpl. Page

- Page 4 -Item #3.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: April 27
 

 
 
 
 
 

Police Chief Tiffany Hayes will be recognizing C Watch for its saving the life of Robert Z. on the Tybee
Island Pier on 01/17/2023.   Officer Shannon and Cpl. Page will receive the Life Saving pin, along with
certificates for Sgt. Price and SPO Nettles for their heroic act during this incident. Communications
Officer Amberly Warner will receive a certificate for her professionalism and help during the incident.  

Recognition of Tybee police officers for lifesaving actions

- Page 5 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

4. Minutes, Special Meeting, April 13, 2023

- Page 6 -Item #4.



City Council Minutes, April 13, 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the Special City Council Hearing to order at 6:05PM, April 13, 2023.  
Those in attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and Spec 
Hosti.  Also attending were Dr. Shawn Gillen, City Manager; Michelle Owens, Assistant 
City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; George 
Shaw, Planning and Zoning and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Nancy DeVetter was 
excused. 
 
2023-05 Resolution:  To consider the Authorization to Exercise the Power of 
Eminent Domain on property consisting of 25 Lots on 4.05 acres (3.50 upland) 
in the area of Solomon and Estill Avenues and Polk Street, in the City of Tybee 
Island.  Mr. Hughes stated this is part of the procedure to institute Eminent Domain as 
the City wishes to grain property.  He summarized the Resolution as part of that procedure 
required by State Law to initiate Eminent Domain proceedings pursuant to the property.  
The City has followed procedures as outlined in Georgia Law as scheduling a hearing, 
signs posted on the property, and publication has been made in our local organ, Savannah 
Morning News.  He continued, Mayor and Council need to consider the Resolution in a 
public hearing.  The next step, consistent of filing a petition to acquire the property by 
Eminent Domain with a Special Master as ordered by the court or petitions filed to 
basically rule on the matter. Barry Brown made a motion to approve.  Monty Parks 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0.   
 
Public Comment 

 Barry McIntosh approached.  Mr. McIntosh expressed his concerns with the use 
of the property and costs thereof. 

 Steve Austin approached.  Mr. Austin asked the cost of the property.  Mr. Hughes 
stated this cannot be disclosed at this time as the City is in negotiations. 

 Thompson Marsh approached.  Mr. Marsh shared his environmental concerns 
 Malcolm McDowell approached.  Mr. McDowell shared his environmental 

concerns. 

 Delina Malinoff approached.  Ms. Malinoff shared her environmental concerns 
 Allie Hayser approached.  Ms. Hayser shared her concerns with protecting the 

wildlife and wetlands. 

 Eric Fountain approached.  Mr. Fountain shared his concerns with protecting the 
wildlife. 

 Angela McIntire approached.  Ms. McIntire shared she concerns with protecting 
the wildlife. 

 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn.  Barry Brown seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to adjourn, 5-0.  Meeting adjourned at 6:25PM. 
 
 
 
_________________________ 

- Page 7 -Item #4.



 

Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 8 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Minutes, City Council Meeting, April 13, 2023

- Page 9 -Item #5.



City Council Minutes, April 13, 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, April 13, 2023.  Those in 
attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.  Also 
attending were Dr. Shawn Gillen, City Manager; Michelle Owens, Assistant City Manager; 
Bubba Hughes, City Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney, George Shaw, Planning and 
Zoning and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Nancy DeVetter was excused. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Posting of Colors and Pledge of Allegiance, American Legion Post 154 
     Invocation:  Jan LeViner, Clerk 
 
Mayor Sessions added the following to the Consent Agenda: 

 Minutes, March 23, 2023 
 Agenda Request: Elisurf's Coffee & Bagel Bar dba The Surfing Goat: Add liquor by the 

drink to existing alcohol license: Beer/Wine/Sunday Sales License 15B Tybrisa St 

 Visit Tybee Info Hut Agreement 
 Approve contract proposal for Audit Services.  Management recommends Clifton Larson 

Allen LLP to perform FY23 Audit of City Financial Statements 

 Sgt Sims, out of state travel to complete his Drug Recognition Expert certification. He will 
need to travel to Jacksonville, FL on April 10 and return on April 16. Hotels expenses for 
travel are covered for this trip through the certification program. Sgt. Sims will need to 
travel in his TIPD patrol car requiring gas and per diem for meals. He was originally 
scheduled to attend this class in November 2023, but a spot opened this month. 

 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times 
of 5 minutes.  
Pat Leiby and Julia Pearce approached Mayor and Council to speak to Tybee MLK's Pilgrimage 
to Ghana connecting the Door of No Return to Tybee's Lazaretto.  Ms. Pearce stated she is 
traveling to Ghana to join Tybee Lazaretto with Ghana Door of NO Return for educational, 
historical and recreational purposes.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Leiby and Ms. Pearce for all 
their work. 
 

Spec Hosti made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Brian West seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0.   
 
Public Hearings 
Special Review, Sec 3-100, Beach, dune or vegetation disturbance/crossover 
maintenance and construction.  Jason Bell petitioner.  Applicant is requesting special 
review of proposed retaining wall at landward toe of dune.  George Shaw approached 
Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated Mr. Bono owns the property and the dunes are moving 
toward his residence.  Mr. Bono is asking to put a retaining wall at the landward toe of the dune.  
He will not be moving the dune only putting it there to avoid further encroachment under his 
house.  Staff recommended approval and Planning Commission unanimously voted to recommend 
approval this request.  Mr. Hosti asked if DNR has approved this request.  Mr. Shaw responded 
after he receives approval from the City he will go before DNR.  Monty Parks made a motion to 
approve.  Barry Brown seconded.  Vote unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Applicant requests permission to have a second temporary dwelling on the 
property until home is elevated. Applicant is part of second batch of the HMGP grant.  

- Page 10 -Item #5.



George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the petitioner’s residence was 
severally flooded during Hurricane Irma and she is requesting she be allowed to have a second 
home, mobile home, put on the lot as she is waiting to have her home elevated and repaired.  
Once the residence is raised and livable she would move out of the mobile home and back into 
her residence.  He continued, this is a very large lot and on septic which will carry the mobile 
home.  Staff recommends, if approved, there is a sunset on the second dwelling, as it is not 
allowed by right.  Planning Commission recommended approval, 4-3.  Mayor pro tem Brown asked 
if the mobile home would be attached to the ground.  Mr. Shaw responded, if a mobile home 
were brought in, it would have to meet all the requirements, be elevated (3-4 feet) and tied 
down.  Mayor pro tem Brown recommended the petitioner bring in a recreational vehicle as an 
option.  He also shared his concerns regarding the safety for the neighbors if a storm was to hit 
the Island.  Mr. Shaw confirmed the mobile home would have to be anchored to meet all City 
requirements.  Ms. Pye approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Hosti asked Ms. Pye if her residence 
is livable.  Ms. Pye responded no, as there are rats and mice in the residence.    Mr. Hosti then 
asked the petitioner if she would consider something smaller.  Ms. Pye stated she did not feel 
that is an option as the needs space for her possessions.  Mr. Parks stated he spoke to the Grant 
Managers recently and the grants have expired until they receive authorization, as no money is 
available or being offered.  Mr. Shaw responded, there are no funds currently flowing to the Batch 
“A” and Batch “B” has not been awarded as of yet. Ms. Pye is in Batch “B” and is qualified for the 
Grant.  Mr. Parks stated this is not a time sensitive issue, as the money has not been dispersed. 
Dr. West asked Mr. Shaw to explain the Planning Commission’s vote.  Mr. Shaw stated those that 
voted in the affirmative were sympathetic to Ms. Pye’s situation and those who were opposed 
had concerns with the time the mobile home would be in place and if the Grant will be re-awarded.    
Dr. West asked Mr. Shaw the timeframe for completion of the elevation of the residence.  Mr. 
Shaw stated there are many variables due to the owner, availability of supplies and the actual 
awarding of the Grant.  He feels it would be twelve months to eighteen months.  Mr. Parks stated 
he is sympathetic to the petitioner but has concerns with putting a permanent structure on the 
property. He recommended the petitioner come back when there is more information on the 
Grant.  Mr. Hughes stated as this is a public hearing, comments needed to be heard from the 
citizens.  Mayor pro tem Brown expressed his concerns with the possibility that funds will not be 
available. Mr. Shaw reminded everyone that this is a reimbursement grant and the applicant must 
provide funds for any work that is being done.  Once work is completed, she will be reimbursed.  
Sherri Simmons approached Mayor and Council to speak in favor of the petitioner.  She asked 
Mayor and Council to please approve (attached). Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Simmons for her 
comments and concerns.  Jodee Sadowsky approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Sadowsky 
asked Mayor and Council find a timely and equitable solution to Ms. Pye’s dilemma (attached). 
Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Sadowsky for his comments and concerns.  Roger Huff approached 
Mayor and Council.  Mr. Huff asked Mayor and Council to consider the emotional drain that Ms. 
Pye is experiencing.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Huff for his comments.  Dee Matkowski 
approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Matkowski shared her concerns that if a mobile home was 
approved it to could flood as did the residence.  She recommended an RV instead of a mobile 
home.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Matkowski for her comments.  Brian West made a motion 
to  approve the request and allow for 30 months beginning on the day of her choice.   Spec 
Hosti seconded.  Voting in favor were Brian West and Spec Hosti.  Those voting against were 
Monty Parks, Barry Brown, and Jay Burke.  Motion failed 2-3.  Barry Brown made a motion to 
table until the City received more information, facts and details, as to the future of the Grant.  
Monty Parks seconded.  Voting in favor were Monty Parks, Barry Brown and Jay Burke.  Voting 
against were Spec Hosti and Brian West.  Motion approved 3-2. 
 
First Reading, 2023-05, Sec 5-050 (C):  Expanded Notification to Owners or 
Occupants. George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the proposed 
ordinance would expand the notification for mailing to a 200 ft radius from the property.  Planning 

- Page 11 -Item #5.



Commission voted to approve unanimously. Mr. Parks thanked Mr. Shaw and Staff for their work 
on the proposed ordinance.  Roger Huff approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Huff stated he 
feels this is a step forward.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Brian West seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
First Reading 2023-06:  Sec 5-050, Single Family to Multifamily Rezoning. Mr. Hughes 
approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Hughes stated this is a change that is required under changes 
to the Zoning Procedure Law at the State level.  This deals with specific provisions where someone 
other than the owner petitions or proceeds with an effort to rezone single family areas or districts 
to permit multi-family housing.  This does not apply if the owner initiates the application.  This 
would now requires significant change in procedures including additional public hearings before 
the meetings where the matter is taken up and three (3) public hearings effectively which one 
would have to be between 5:00PM and 8:00PM.  There are also very specific procedures that 
must be followed.  Mr. Hughes then explained the procedures, which are very strict.  He 
continued, the ordinance is to incorporate the State law and would require additional public 
hearing in the event if it were triggered.  This must be in place by June 1, 2023.  Roger Huff 
approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Huff stated he would like to have layman’s language for the 
proposed ordinance.  He expressed his concerns with the language and asked Mayor and Council 
to slow the process down.  Mr. Parks confirmed the proposed ordinance was heard by the Planning 
Commission, published in their packet and posted to the website.  Mr. Shaw confirmed.  Monty 
Parks made a motion to approve.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-
0. 
 
First Reading 2023-07:  Sec 5-060 Appeal of Zoning Decision. Mr. Hughes approached 
Mayor and Council.  Mr. Hughes stated this is similar to the previous ordinance as it is mandated 
by State law.  This provides a method of appealing zoning decisions and provides the Mayor serve 
as the designated official to be served and approve appeal notice(s) that must be filed in 30 days 
of the decision on a zoning decision which is defined in the Code section, State Code section.  Mr. 
Hughes then gave his interruption of the proposed ordinance. This is favorable to the property 
owners and those who wish to appeal decisions of Council.  Mr. Parks stated the intent of the 
proposed ordinance is the Mayor becomes the point of service for notices of dispute on zoning 
decisions.  Mr. Hughes confirmed.  Brian West made a motion to approve.  Monty Parks 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
First Reading 2023-08 Sec 5-060 Required Number of Public Hearings.  Mr. Hughes 
approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Hughes stated the proposed ordinance clarifies the number 
of public hearings should someone submit an rezoning application.  The only change is adding 
language, “unless otherwise required by law only one official public hearing is required”.  Monty 
Parks made a motion to approve.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-
0. 
 
First Reading 2023-09 Sec 3-090 To allow an Elevator to Encroach into the Side or 
Rear Setback.  George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated there have 
been a number of elevator requests recently for existing homes and there is not always a good 
place an elevator in the existing footprint.  The proposed ordinance would give an allowance for 
Staff to approve an elevator in a setback for an existing elevated structure and alleviate a 
variance.  Mayor pro tem Brown asked what is the maximum footage to go into the rear setback.  
Mr. Shaw responded this is not included but is a good idea to add to the proposed ordinance.  
Mr. Hughes stated the wording of the ordinance, to accommodate an elevator into the side or 
rear setback to the extent necessary to accommodate the elevator in the appropriate shaft for 
approval of the building official.  There was a brief discussion regarding the size of the elevator.  
Mr. Parks asked Mr. Shaw if he was comfortable with the proposed ordinance.  Mr. Shaw 

- Page 12 -Item #5.



confirmed and added if a resident applied for a large elevator, he would need guidance.  Most 
applications are for 4x4 or 5x5 cubes not including the shell.  Mr. Hughes stated the possible 
language would be:  “no further intruding into the set-back than 5’ft and no wider and 6 ft”.   
Cody Gay approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Gay confirmed the proposed ordinance is only 
relative in a setback.  Mr. Hughes confirmed.  Spec Hosti made a motion to table and come back 
with further information and clarification.  Monty Parks seconded.  Discussion:  Mr. Hughes 
recommended Mayor and Council hold off on first reading until it come back before them with 
the appropriate language.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
First Reading 2023-10 Sec 2-010 Change of Setback Definition to Allow for Elevators. 
George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated in the definition of “setback”, 
there is only one elevator allowed in the setback and clarifies allowable eaves in the setback. This 
proposed ordinance makes it clear there is only 24” allowed in the setback.  Brian West made a 
motion to approve.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
First Reading 2023-11 Sec 3-TBD, to Restrict STR Permits in the R-1, R-1B and 
R2.  Revised to 2023-11.  Jay Burke recused. George Shaw approached Mayor and 
Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the proposed ordinance is adding an effective date to the Ordinance, 
which was approved in October 2022.  The effective date would be May 1, 2023 for Sec 3 and 
Sec 4.  Mr. Hughes confirmed. Tony Ploughe approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Ploughe 
thanked Mayor and Council for providing the effective date as it brings clarity.   Cody Gay 
approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Gay stated he objects to the policy.  The 90-day requirement 
is really reinforcing a pattern of over-saturation.  He continued, there are many instances where 
a STR owner would not have 90 days proof of a rental.  Roger Huff approached Mayor and 
Council.  Mr. Huff stated he is against this restriction and agrees with Mr. Gay, as there is a great 
deal of grey area.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Barry Brown seconded.  Voting 
against were Brian West and Spec Hosti.  Shirley Sessions voted in the affirmative.  Vote was 
3-2 to approve. 
 
First Reading 2023-12 Sec 3-TBD to allow for an Exception to the STR Abandonment 
Clause in Cases of Certain Calamities.  George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. 
Shaw stated this is an amendment to the previous ordinance defining instances where the 90- 
days was not applicable.  These instances would include but not limited to property damage by 
fire, hurricanes, storms, pandemic, and sickness.  If your home or the City is impaired for not less 
than 45 days, there is an exemption.  Mr. Hosti asked Mr. Hughes who would make the 
determination if a person would receive the exemption.  Mr. Hughes responded, it would come 
before Mayor and Council to determine whether or not there is justification.  This is why it is 
limited to circumstances of calamities.  It is the intent of the proposed ordinance to have a 
variance process to determine if the property qualifies.  Mr. Hughes continued, if there were an 
Emergency Declaration, one order would apply to all properties.  Cody Gay approached Mayor 
and Council.  Mr. Gay expressed his concerns and asked there be a specific set of definitions of 
what includes a calamity, he could present two which would create a situation where you would 
not met the 90-day rule.  This would include breaks in sewage lines.  Another instance would be 
insect/termite infestation where the framing of the house would have to be rebuilt.  This does 
not give owners an opportunity to meet the 90-day rule.  Mr. Gay asked Mayor and Council to 
define language outlining other possibilities or leave an open box that other instances would be 
included. Mr. Hughes stated it is difficult to outline instances in ordinance form where objective 
standards must be set in order for relief to be granted or denied. Roger Huff approached Mayor 
and Council.  Mr. Huff agrees with Mr. Gay as to defining calamities.    Monty Parks made a 
motion to approve.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 4-0. 
 

- Page 13 -Item #5.



 

Appendices - Staff Reports and Planning Commission votes for Public Hearings.  Not 
action needed or taken. 

 
Jay Burke returned 

 
Consideration of Ordinances and Resolutions 
Second Reading, 2023-20, Sec 46-34, Discrimination and Harassment Prevention.  
Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to 
approve, 5-0. 

 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss litigation, and 
real estate. Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to return to regular session.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 5-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:05PM 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 14 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Attachments to Minutes

- Page 15 -Item #6.



- Page 16 -Item #6.



- Page 17 -Item #6.



- Page 18 -Item #6.



- Page 19 -Item #6.



- Page 20 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Anthony Turpin Planning Commission Application

- Page 21 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

P.O. Box 2749   ·   403 Butler Ave. 

Tybee Island, GA 31328 

Phone (912) 786-4573   ·   Fax (912) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER 

APPLICATION PACKET 
 

 

Thank you for your interest in serving on the Planning Commission of the City of 

Tybee Island.  

 

The Planning Commission makes formal recommendations to the Mayor and the 

City Council on Land Development Code petitions and issues. The Planning 

Commission is a citizen board appointed by the Mayor and the City Council. It is 

composed of six voting members and a chairperson who votes only in the event of a 

tie. Terms are staggered and are for two years, beginning on February 1. Members 

must be residents within the city limits of Tybee Island. Planning Commission 

members are not compensated by the City for their service. 

 

The Planning Commission meets at City Hall once a month at 6:30 p.m. The dates 

of meetings for the current calendar year are posted at the City’s website at 

www.cityoftybee.org.  

 

Attached is Article 11 of the Land Development Code and the Planning Commission 

Rules of Procedure which will provide information about the Planning Commission. 

It may also be useful to review the minutes of past Planning Commission meetings 

which are posted at the City’s website. 

 

To apply for a Planning Commission opening, you must complete the attached form 

and submit it with your resume to the Clerk of Council before the deadline date. 

 
 

- Page 22 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

P.O. Box 2749   ·   403 Butler Ave. 

Tybee Island, GA 31328 

Phone (912) 786-4573   ·   Fax (912) 786-5737 
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER 

APPLICATION QUESTIONS 
(applications will not be processed without completion of these questions) 

 

1. Why do you want to be a member of the Tybee Island Planning Commission?  

 
As a resident- and this being a volunteer position- I feel I can use my professional 
experience as an Architect/General Contractor to compliment the current Commission. 
Personally, I want to ensure the TIPC continues to make informed and fair decisions in the 
interest of smart and sustainable growth for the City. 

 

2. What do you believe to be the most important aspect of the role that a Planning Commissioner 

plays for the community and the City? 

 
Uphold the current regulations in place to protect property values, but be willing to adapt, and 
affect positive change for all City residents. 

 

3. Explain your understanding of the City of Tybee Island’s Land Development Code. 

 
They have been made for the purpose of promoting the public health, safety, morals, 
general welfare, convenience and prosperity of the citizens of the city. The regulations and 
arrangements of districts have been designed to lessen congestion in the streets, to 
secure safety from fire, to provide adequate light and air, to prevent the overcrowding of 
land, to avoid undue concentration of population, to facilitate the adequate provision of 
water, sewer, schools, parks and other public requirements and to encourage the most 
appropriate use of land throughout the city. 

 

4. Briefly explain a land use decision that interested you. Share your observations about the 

process and the decision. 

 
The Proposal (3/20/23 Packet): To Amend the LDC to allow someone who purchased property 
during or before the moratorium to obtain an STR permit if they can prove this was the intent. 
 
I found this proposal to be inherently subjective in nature due to the fact that parameters 
around the word “intent” can be wide-ranging in nature and opens the door for them to 
prepare, in advance, an argument for intent, whether it was true or false. I like the Staff finding 
of ‘denial based upon the fact that the owner should have known, through due diligence during 
the purchase process, that there was no guarantee of an STR permit’. The decision stuck to 
the Code in place and removed any subjective analysis needed. 

 

5. Where do you see the City of Tybee Island in ten (10) years? 

 

 
 

- Page 23 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

• A year-round community where the residents can also leave the island on Summer 
weekends, knowing they will not wait in 2-hour traffic on Hwy 80 to return.  

• A year-round community that would support a doctor’s office and drugstore.  

• Where considerate and eco-friendly tourists are the rule and not the exception.  

• If not planned proactively, the delicate balance of resident vs. tourist will tilt to one 
side. I don’t think anyone wants the Island to continue to be overcrowded with traffic 
due to the inability to, both, provide adequate parking for the public, and trim our 
spending of PR/tourism dollars in getting our name on many “best of” lists.  

• Where the residents can sleep with windows open and not hear loud engines revving 
at 2 am in the morning. 

• No Gas motorized (and less of, in general) golf carts. 

• Better (or new) walking sidewalks for busy areas. 
 

6. In your own words, please give your personal opinion as to the meaning of “conflict of 

interest.” 

 
I feel any City services volunteer should be expected to act in the best interest of the City of 
Tybee/TICP in an objective and impartial manner and should not be controlled or restricted 
in carrying out their duties by any outside interests or connections (professional, business, 
volunteer, personal or other).  
 
An actual conflict of interest occurs when outside interests or connections (professional, 
business, volunteer, personal or other) influence one’s ability to act with integrity, objectivity 
and independence in relation to his/her TIPC duties.  
 
An apparent conflict of interest occurs when such factors may be perceived to or appear to 
influence one’s ability to act with integrity, objectivity and independence in relation to one’s 
TIPC duties.  
 
A potential conflict of interest arises when one is aware that such factors, if acted upon, may 
influence the member’s ability to act with integrity, objectivity and independence. 

 

7. What would consider to be the biggest accomplishment that the Planning Commission has 

made over the last five (5) years? 

 
The continued diligence of upholding the Land Development Code and specifically 
addressing the STVR challenge head-on.  
 

8. If you could change one thing about the Planning Commission, what would that be? Please 

explain the benefits that would come about as a result of the proposed change. 

 
It’s minor, but having accessed hundreds of municipal websites during my career, I personally 
feel that this issue would convey an increased professional face to our important work:  
Have the Agenda and Meeting Minutes more accessible before a PC meeting, and continue 
to have the PC meetings played live for those residents unable to attend. I may be missing 
something, but I only see the minutes when they are being approved in the following meetings’ 
‘Agenda Packet’ when uploaded online. The last recorded PC meeting (listed on the City 
website archive was 12/20/21. Is this correct?). 
Also, when recording occurs and there is any discussion of images presented (plats, site 
plans, renderings, etc.) they should be shown to the remote viewing public (Effingham 
County’s Planning meetings on YouTube are a good example of how the presentation best 
informs those viewing remotely). 

- Page 24 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

Benefits: 
With the increased accessibility and transparency, it would hopefully help to create an overall 
better-informed community, and thus, reduce the time wasted at City Council meetings when 
uninformed residents show up to complain that they are ‘hearing it for the first time’. There 
would be no excuse……in a perfect world. 
 

If I may be so bold to mention a possible 2nd change to consider- as it has to do with the PC’s 
Rules of Procedure attached below to this Application. Item 13 states: 

 
13. CONFLICT OF INTEREST – If a member of the Planning Commission has a direct financial interest in the 

property, owner, member of immediate family of petitioner, or a 10% interest in a business or corporation 

requesting a change in zoning for a property, or….. 

 
Should it not state “…or a minimum of 10% interest…”. The way it is currently written, if I had 
10.5% interest or above I would not, legally, need to recuse myself. 
 
Thank you. 

 

Signature:   Today’s Date:  April 12, 2023   

 

Printed Name:  Anthony J. Turpin 

 

Address:   

28 Naylor Ave / PO Box 1544 

Tybee Island, GA 31328 

 

Telephone:  

(912) 777-1062 (w) / (770) 364-9156 (c) 

 

Email:  

anthonyjturpin@gmail.com 

- Page 25 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

 
LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 

ARTICLE 11. PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Sec. 11-010. Creation and purposes. 

There is created a planning commission for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, morals, convenience, order, 

prosperity and general welfare, and to provide for the orderly development of the city. 
 

Sec. 11-020. Name. 

The name of the planning commission shall be "The Tybee Island Municipal Planning Commission" herein referred 

to as the "planning commission". 
 

Sec. 11-030. Membership. 

The planning commission shall consist of seven (7) members who shall be residents within the city limits of Tybee 

Island, appointed by the governing body, with a chair voting only in the event of a tie. 
 

Sec. 11-040. Terms of office. 

Members of the planning commission shall be appointed by the mayor and council for two year staggered terms of 

office. 
 

Sec. 11-050. Filling vacancies. 

A vacancy in the membership of the planning commission shall be filled in the same manner as an original 

appointment. 
 

Sec. 11-060. Removal of members. 

The mayor and council may remove any member of the planning commission for cause after written notice at any 

regularly scheduled city council meeting. A recommendation for removal from office can be requested by a 

concurrence of four members of planning commission and the chair of the planning commission for violation of the 

attendance requirements as set forth in the rules of procedure as adopted by the Tybee Island Planning Commission. 
 

Sec. 11-070. Compensation. 

Compensation, if any, to any member of the planning commission shall be determined by the mayor and council. 
 

Sec. 11-080. Chair and vice-chair. 

The planning commission shall elect one of its appointed members to serve as chair, and another as vice-chair. They 

shall serve for a period of one year, or until successors are elected. 
 

Sec. 11-090. Secretary. 

The secretary to the planning commission shall be the zoning administrator. In his or her absence, the planning 

commission may appoint an employee of the city or a member of the planning commission. 
 

Sec. 11-100. Meetings. 

(A)   The planning commission shall meet in a regular session each month no later than sixteen days prior to the first 

scheduled city council meeting of the following month at city hall at 7:00 p.m. Special meetings may be held as 

deemed necessary by the chair or a majority of the members or at the request of the mayor or council with 48 hours 

notice to said members. 

(B)   The planning commission shall conduct its business under rules approved by the mayor and council. It shall keep 

a record of its proceedings which shall be a public record. 
 

Sec. 11-110. Duties. 

The planning commission shall perform all of the following duties: 

(A) Duties and responsibilities assigned by the mayor and council. 

(B) Make formal recommendations to the city council on all petitions for variances from the city's technical codes. 

(C) Make formal recommendations to the city council on all petitions and the meeting of ordinance requirements for 

zoning map amendments, subdivisions, and/or amendments to the text of this Land Development Code, specifically 

including but not limited to special assignments requested by the governing body, the city code enforcement 

department, city engineers. 

(D) Land use planning. The planning commission shall make careful surveys and studies periodically in order to 

update the city's master plan and Land Development Codes. Consideration shall be given to existing conditions, 

probable future development, and the promotion of public health, safety, prosperity, economics development, 

efficiency and the general welfare as evidenced by the quality of life in the community. 

  
 

 

- Page 26 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

 

 
 

      RULES OF PROCEDURE 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 

1. GENERAL – The City of Tybee Island Planning Commission shall be governed by terms of the Georgia General 

Planning and Enabling Act of 1957, as amended, and other special state laws, related to city planning. 

 

2. MEMBERS, OFFICERS AND DUTIES OF SAME – The Planning Commission shall consist of seven (7) 

members appointed by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island. Appointments shall be made at the 

first scheduled City Council meeting in January. The terms of office for members of the Planning Commission 

shall be two (2) year staggered terms. 

 

A. CHAIR – The term of office shall be for a period of one (1) year with the election taking place at the first 

meeting after the appointments are made by Mayor and Council. The Chair will be allowed to vote only in 

the event of a tie vote. The Chair shall decide all points of order and procedure using Robert’s Rules of Order. 

The Chair may appoint one or more members to investigate and report on matters which shall come before 

the Planning Commission.  

B. VICE-CHAIR – A Vice-Chair shall be elected from the members of the Planning Commission. The term of 

office shall be for one (1) year, with election taking place at the first meeting after the appointments are made 

by Mayor and Council. The Vice-Chair shall act as Chair in the absence of the Chair. 

C. SECRETARY – The Secretary to the Planning Commission shall be the Zoning Administrator or his/her 

designee. 

 

3. REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION – Regular meetings of the Planning Commission 

shall be held no later than sixteen (16) days prior to the regularly scheduled City Council meeting on Monday 

evenings at 6:30 p.m. at City Hall. Planning Commission packets, prepared by the Zoning Administrator, will be 

available for pickup by the members of the Planning Commission on the Friday one week preceding the Planning 

Commission meeting. Any packets not picked up will be distributed at the Planning Commission meeting.  

 

SPECIAL MEETINGS – Special meetings of the Planning Commission may be called at any time deemed 

necessary by the Chair, or a majority of the members, or at the request of Mayor and Council, provided however, 

that 48 hours notice of time and location of such meeting shall be given to each member. The 48 hour notice 

requirement may be waived by an action of not less than four (4) members of the Planning Commission. Said 

notice of the special meeting shall be posted at City Hall, stating the place, time and purpose of the special meeting 

and no other business may be conducted other than that which is posted. 

 

4. REQUESTS FOR ZONING ACTIONS – It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to complete and submit an 

application form and required documentation to the Zoning Administrator in writing by the first day of the month 

prior to the next Planning Commission meeting. Failure of the applicant to supply complete documentation and 

meet the requirements of the ordinances will result in the application being rejected and not considered. Applicant 

will initial on the application form each requirement as stated. If the first day of the month falls on a Saturday, 

Sunday or holiday, the cutoff date shall be the first working day after. It shall be the responsibility of the petitioner 

to supply sufficient information to the Planning Commission and supporting documentation for the Commission 

to make a fair and reasonable decision. The petitioner has the right to present further documentation at the 

Planning Commission meeting to substantiate his request.  

 

5. COPIES OF PLATS AND/OR DRAWINGS – If the plats or drawings are larger in size than 11 inches, the 

applicant will supply a minimum of thirteen (13) copies. 

- Page 27 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS – All requests for action by the Tybee Island Planning Commission are governed by the 

Zoning Procedures Act. The request for zoning action shall be advertised in the Savannah Morning News at least 

15 days but not more than 45 days prior to the Public Hearing before Mayor and Council. A sign shall be posted 

on the property stating the action requested, current zoning if a zoning change is requested, and date, time and 

place of all hearings. Adjacent property owners shall be notified when possible. Failure to receive notice shall not 

affect the validity of any zoning action. This procedure is a supplement to the legally required notification process. 

 

7. ORDER OF BUSINESS – All meetings shall be open to the public and governed by the Sunshine Laws of the 

State of Georgia. Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the meetings. The order of business for regular meetings 

of the Tybee Island Planning Commission shall be: 

 

A. Call to Order 

B. Roll Call 

C. Approval of Minutes 

D. Disclosures 

E. Visitors 

F. Old Business 

G. New Business 

H. Announcements 

I. Adjournment 

 

The proposed zoning action will be read by the Chair. A written report will be submitted by the Zoning 

Administrator outlining the petition, variance requested and compliance. The Zoning Administrator shall present 

the petition and answer any questions asked by the Planning Commission. Members of the Planning Commission 
may question the petitioner following the presentation by the Zoning Administrator. The committee shall be 

empowered to request of the applicants for action by the Commission any additional information that they may 

need for their reports. The Chair will then ask for public input. The petitioner shall be allowed up to ten (10) 

minutes to address the zoning decision under consideration. This time limit can be waived by a two-thirds vote 

of the members present prior to or at the time of the introduction of the proposed zoning action. Each speaker 

shall speak only to the merits of the proposed action under consideration and shall only address members of the 

Planning Commission. Each speaker and/or member of the Planning Commission shall refrain from personal 

attacks on any other speaker, member of the Planning Commission, staff, or petitioner. Each speaker shall further 

refrain from any discussion of facts or opinions not relevant to the proposed zoning action under consideration. 

The Chair may limit or refuse a speaker the right to continue if the speaker, after first being cautioned, continues 

to violate this section. 

 

8. PERTINENCE – Any item before the Planning Commission relevant to matters of zoning, variances, appeals, 

petitions, subdivisions, Master Plan implementations, and code changes shall not be voted upon without first 

considering the pertinence of the matter with reference to the zoning map, Master Plan, Code of Ordinances, and 

appropriate documents and plans. Commission members and all petitioners and other speakers shall remain 

germane to the matter on hand, shall not engage in personalities or invectives, and shall not repeat unless so 

requested.  

 

9. REPORTS TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL – The Chair shall file with the Secretary no later than the 

Thursday following the Tuesday regular meeting a Planning Commission determination sheet for each petition 

heard during the Planning Commission meeting. These sheets shall be prepared by the Zoning Administrator and 

shall state the petitioner’s name, address, request, and the recommendation of the Planning Commission for 

approval, denial, table for further information, or no action taken. The findings of fact shall reflect the vote by 

Planning Commission on each petition. The Zoning Administrator shall attend City Council meetings to answer 

any questions pertaining to the recommendations submitted. If the Zoning Administrator were unable to present 

a petition at a City Council meeting, the Chair or his/her designee would present. 

 

10. ATTENDANCE – A member who fails to attend two (2) consecutive regular meetings or four (4) regular 

meetings of the Planning Commission in a one (1) year period, (February to last regular meeting of January) 

without prior notice to the Secretary and/or Chair, shall either resign or become subject to a recommendation to 

Mayor and Council for dismissal from the Planning Commission. The Chair, with the concurrence of three (3) 

- Page 28 -Item #7.



 

20211206/jrl 

 

members, may recommend to Mayor and Council that the vacancy be declared and that the vacant position be 

filled by appointment. 

 

11. QUORUM – A quorum shall consist of four (4) members. In the event that a quorum is not present at the regular 

meeting, the members present may set a date and time for a special meeting to hear the petitions on the agenda. 

 

12. VOTING – Voting takes place on each petition. Majority vote decides the motion. If a member recuses from 

voting, the reason for recusing shall be stated and become a part of the minutes. An abstention shall be counted 

as an affirmative vote. The Chair shall only vote in the event of a tie vote. Votes shall be recorded and included 

in the minutes. 

 

13. CONFLICT OF INTEREST – If a member of the Planning Commission has a direct financial interest in the 

property, owner, member of immediate family of petitioner, or a 10% interest in a business or corporation 

requesting a change in zoning for a property, or receive any compensation for aiding the petitioner prepare or 

document the petition, that member shall disclose same at any hearing before the petition is heard; and it shall be 

deemed a conflict of interest and that member shall excuse himself/herself from all discussion and leave the dais 

during such discussion.  

 

14. FINANCIAL CAMPAIGN DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS – If a petition for rezoning a property is before 

the Planning Commission, any member who has received campaign contributions or gifts in the previous two (2) 

years from the petitioner or his attorney in the aggregate amount of $250.00 or more shall disclose in writing said 

contributions. 

 

15. ADVISORS – Any planning staff or other advisors to the Planning Commission upon request shall be encouraged 

to advise all members regarding the technical aspects of matters for consideration before the Commission. Staff 
shall also be available to the citizens to answer questions concerning items before the Commission. The Chair 

may request that the Secretary or any ad hoc committees prepare any special reports and publish same for the 

general public. 

 

16. AMENDMENTS – These Rules of Procedure may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the Planning 

Commission by a majority of affirmative votes of not less than four (4) members, provided that such 

amendment(s) shall have been presented to all members in writing at least five (5) days prior to the meeting that 

the vote is taken.  
 

 

 

 
amended 12/03/2008 

- Page 29 -Item #7.



1 

 

ANTHONY J. TURPIN, AIA 
28 Naylor Ave. / PO Box 1544 - Tybee Island, GA 31328 
anthonyjturpin@gmail.com / (770) 364-9156(c) 

 

PROFESSIONAL SUMMARY 
 

I have over 40 years of diverse experience throughout the design and construction industry. I am currently 
managing the Savannah office for RW Allen Construction LLC. Previously, I was Partner/Principal & Design 
Studio Director of a 65-person Architectural, Interior & Graphic Design firm, leading all municipal, justice, 
recreation and worship projects from programming through design and construction closeout for 25 years.  
My background includes working with city and county government agencies on a variety of technically 
complex projects. While focusing on business development, programming, concept design, budget control, 
scheduling, contract negotiation, document coordination, quality control and construction administration, I 
have completed over 130 projects equating to over $900 Million in total project cost. I have successfully led 
many projects in a variety of construction delivery methods including, P3, design-build, design-bid-build and 
CM@Risk. I present a focused and deliberate approach to every project type and have a history of resolving 
any design and construction challenges in a positive manner. 

 
EXPERIENCE 

 
RW Allen Construction LLC (RWA) (2019-current) – Coastal Area Manager 
Pieper O’Brien Herr Architects (POH) (1995-2019) - Leader of Municipal, Worship and Justice Studios 
Precision Planning (PPI) (1993-5) – Project Architect/Manager 
Chapman Coyle Chapman (CCC) (1985-7 & 1988-93) – Intern Architect/Designer 
Huygens DiMella Shaeffer, Boston, MA (HDS) (1987-8) - Intern Architect/Designer 
Jova Daniels Busby (JDB) (1984-5) - Intern Architect/Designer 
 
RW Allen Construction Experience: 

− City Hall restoration, Tybee Island, GA (current-2023) 

− Volvo Savannah renovation (2022-current) 

− Volvo Hilton Head Island renovation (2022-3) 

− Savannah High School Athletic Complex (2021-2) 

− SSU Physical Plant, Savannah, GA (preconstruction 2022-current) 

− Joseph Miller Park Fire Department HQ, Midway, GA (2022-current) 

− The Amelia (302 E. Oglethorpe Ave.) Condominium, Savannah, GA (current-2024) 

− St. Joseph’s/Candler: 

• The Nancy N. and J.C. Lewis Cancer & Research Pavilion, Pembroke, GA (2021-22) 

• Medical Office renovation, Richmond Hill, GA (2022) 

• Medical Office Building renovation, Hinesville, GA (2022) 

• Liberty Regional Infusion Lab renovation, Hinesville, GA (2021) 

− Effingham County Gym - Clarence E. Morgan Park, Springfield, GA (2020-21) 

− Diversity Health Renovation, Ludowici, GA (2019) 

− Glynn County Superior Courthouse Annex expansion cost estimate for SPLOST 2020, Brunswick, GA 
(2019-20) 

− Thrive on Skidaway, Savannah, GA (2019-21) 
 
Overview of Experience (all with POH, unless noted otherwise): 
JUSTICE 

− Arcade Municipal Court 

− Banks County Courthouse (renovation) - Homer, GA 

− Crawford County Courthouse (renovation) - Roberta, GA 

− Crisp County Courthouse - Cordele, GA 

− Cobb County Superior Courthouse - Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Superior Courthouse (Law Library/Grand Jury/Courtrooms) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County State Court (Security Needs Assessment) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Magistrate Offices renovation – Marietta, GA 

− Duluth Municipal Court and Police Headquarters 

− General Services Administration (GSA) Bankruptcy Court – Greenville, NC 

− Gwinnett County Justice & Administration Center expansion - Lawrenceville, GA 

- Page 30 -Item #7.



2 

 

− Hall County Courthouse renovation (22,000sf in process) – Gainesville, GA 

− Hartwell Municipal Court 

− Kennesaw Municipal Court  

− McDonough Municipal Court  

− Whitfield County Courthouse (renovation) – Dalton, GA 

− Towns County Courthouse (programming) – Hiawassee, GA 

− Union County Courthouse (programming/concept planning) – Blairsville, GA 

− Putnam County Historic Courthouse renovation (with PPI) – Eatonton, GA  
 
Forum on Courthouse Security Design 2016 Panel Member - sponsored by The Georgia Council of 
Superior Court Judges (CSCJ) and Georgia Sheriffs’ Association (GSA). Providing input on trends and 
developments on security design for Georgia courthouses, with the intent to support a required update to the 
2012 Georgia Standards for the Security of Courthouses and Other Court Facilities. 
 
MUNICIPAL 

− Arcade City Hall and Police HQ (renovation/addition) 

− Alpharetta City Hall (concept design) 

− Banks County Courthouse Annex – Homer, GA 

− Brookhaven City Hall (renovation) 

− Cobb County Morgue renovation – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County 10 East Park Square Renovation (county offices) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Senior Center (bridging documents) – Austell, GA 

− Cobb County On-Demand Services (2013-19) 

− East Point Government Complex Master Plan 

− East Point City Hall (program & conceptual design) 

− Gordon County Parking Deck – Calhoun, GA 

− Hall County On-Demand Services (2017-19) 

− Hall County Government Center HVAC/Elect. Evaluation – Gainesville, GA 

− Hartwell City Hall, Police HQ & Jail 

− Hiawassee Town Center Master Plan 

− Norcross On-Demand Services (2017-19) 

− Towns County Senior Center (CDBG concept design) – Hiawassee, GA 

− Lilburn City Hall/Police Department (with PPI) 

− Gordon County Health Department (with PPI) – Calhoun, GA 

− Greene County Health Department (with PPI) – Greensboro, GA 

− Barrow County Health Department (with PPI) – Winder, GA 

− Union County Senior Center – Blairsville, GA 

− Union County DFCS (concept design with a previous firm) – Blairsville, GA 

− Gwinnett County Civic and Cultural Center - PAC (with a previous firm) – Duluth, GA 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY 

− Alpharetta Police Department (renamed Alpharetta Department of Public Safety) 

− Alpharetta Department of Public Safety (Phase 2 - expansion/renovation)  

− Alpharetta E911 expansion 

− Brookhaven Police Department (renovation) 

− Covington Police Department (retrofit 26,000sf – in process) 

− Cochran Police Department (programming/concept design/probable cost) 

− Cobb County Public Safety Education Facility (@ Safety Village) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Police Headquarters (programming/site concepts) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Police & Fire Department Training Facility (programming/site concepts) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Police HQ (Threat Assessment Study) – Marietta, GA 

− Cobb County Narcotics Storage Facility – Marietta, GA 

− Fayetteville Fire Station 

− Gainesville Fire Station (Schematic Design) 

− Roswell Fire Station No. 4  

− Roswell-Alpharetta Public Safety Training Center – Roswell, GA 

− Snellville Police Department 
 

- Page 31 -Item #7.



3 

 

WORSHIP 

− Blackshear Place First Baptist Church (now Christ Place Church) - Oakwood, GA 

− Christ Place Church Masterplan - Oakwood, GA 

− Christ The Shepherd Lutheran Church (renovation/addition) - Alpharetta, GA 

− Epiphany Lutheran Church Expansion & Masterplan – Suwanee, GA 

− First Redeemer Church Youth Addition (Middle School)– Cumming, GA 

− First Redeemer Church Children’s Addition (Nursery-Elementary concept design) – Cumming, GA  

− First Redeemer Church Adult Classroom Addition (concept design) – Cumming, GA 

− Free Chapel Sanctuary Expansion and Media Studio – Gainesville, GA 

− Mt Bethel UMC Master Plan (renovation & expansion concept – in process) – Marietta, GA 

− Oak Hill Baptist Church (Sanctuary & Education Addition)- Griffin, GA 

− Ravi Zacharias International Ministries (RZIM) – Alpharetta, GA 

− Word of Faith Life Training Center/Wedding Chapel – Austell, GA 

− Word of Faith Seeds of Excellence Daycare Center – Austell, GA 

− Young Life Multi-Purpose Facility (concept design) – Cumming, GA 
 

RECREATIONAL 

− Cumming Dogwood Center Multipurpose Facility (concept design) 

− East Point Recreation & Aquatics Facility (conceptual design in progress) 

− Gwinnett County Parks (Lions Club, Alexander, Jones-Bridge, Sweetwater, etc.) 

− Kennesaw/Smith-Gilbert Gardens Visitors Center (in process) 

− Meeks Park Pool House – Blairsville, GA 

− North Fulton Centre for the Arts Conceptual Design - Alpharetta, Georgia 

− Riverside EpiCenter (gym, bowling, wellness, rock climbing wall)– Austell, GA 

− Taylor Farm Park – Hiram, GA 

− Towns County Recreation & Conference Center - Young Harris, GA 

− Towns County Recreation Center – Hiawassee, GA 

− Word of Faith Athletic Fields (Hartman Rd - concept) – Austell, GA 
 
CORRECTIONAL 

− Small Jail Prototypes (Article in Correctional News) 

− Banks County Law Enforcement Center - Homer, GA 

− Bleckley County Jail - Cochran, GA  

− Madison County Jail – Danielsville, GA 

− Oglethorpe County Jail - Lexington, GA  

− Towns County Jail – Young Harris, GA  

− Union County Jail - Blairsville, GA 

− Catoosa County Jail - Ringgold, GA 

− Catoosa County Jail Work Release (concept design) – Ringgold, GA 

− Catoosa County Jail Dayroom Security Renovations – Ringgold, GA 

− Dawson County Jail (programming/concept design) – Dawsonville, GA 

− Floyd County Jail (renovation & expansion) - Rome, GA 

− Forsyth County Detention Center & Sheriffs’ Offices (conceptual design) – Cumming, GA 

− Johnson County Jail – Wrightsville, GA 

− Pulaski County Jail & Sheriffs’ Office – Hawkinsville, GA 

− Rockdale County Jail – Women’s Release – Conyers, GA 

− Tattnall County Jail (prefab cell concept) – Reidsville, GA 

− Sumter County Jail – Americus, GA 

− Whitfield County Law Enforcement Center - Dalton, GA (Article in Correctional News) 
 
EDUCATIONAL 

− JJ Daniel Middle School Science Classrooms – Marietta, GA 

− Lost Mountain Middle School (prototype with CCC) – Kennesaw, GA  

− Powder Springs Middle School (prototype re-use with CCC) 
 
MICELLANEOUS 

− Georgia Power Customer Care Center – McDonough, GA 

− Riverside EpiCenter Conference Center - Austell, GA  

- Page 32 -Item #7.



4 

 

− Inhibitex Medical Lab Office Building – Alpharetta, Georgia 

− Bank of Hiawassee (now State South) Convenience Center Prototypes (concept design) 

− Pro Cleaners (concept design) – Alpharetta, GA 

− Saturn of Thornton Road – Douglasville, GA 

− Putnam County Senior Living Center (Concept Design) – Eatonton, GA 

− Chateau Elan Conference Center (with CCC) – Braselton, GA 

− Naval Submarine Base Housing (with JDB) – Kings Bay, GA 

− MacIntosh Farms Townhouses (with HDS) - Sharon, MA 

− ADA Assessments of Polling Stations – Towns County, GA 

− ADA Assessment of House Adaptation (injured USPS employee)– General Services Administration 
 

EDUCATION 

− Master of Architecture, Georgia Institute of Technology, 1988 

− Bachelor of Science, Georgia Institute of Technology, 1983 

• Study-abroad program at the École des Beaux-Arts Paris, France, 1982-3 

− Young Harris College, 1978-9 
 

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION 

− Registered Architect in Georgia (#8227) – Since 1993 

− Past Registrations in Iowa (#6397) and Rhode Island (#A-10786)  - (both expired) 
 

AFFILIATIONS (including past and current) 
− Tybee Island Historic Preservation Commission (2020-21) 

− Savannah Area Chamber of Commerce 

− Association of General Contractors (AGC) 

− American Institute of Architects (AIA) – member since 1994 

• Academy of Architecture for Justice (AIA-AAJ) 

− National Council of Architectural Registration Boards (NCARB) – member since 2008 

− Georgia Council of Court Administrators (GCCA) - expired 

− National Association of Court Management (NACM) - expired 

− Georgia Municipal Association (GMA) - expired 

− Association of County Commissioners of Georgia (ACCG) -expired 

− Georgia Sheriffs’ Association (GSA) - expired 

− American Correctional Association (ACA) - expired 

− United States Green Building Council (USGBC) - expired 

− Georgia Recreation & Park Association (GRPA) – expired 

− Nichols Creek HOA (architectural review director) - expired 
 

SOFTWARE 

− Experience with all these on various hardware platforms (iPad, iPhone, iMac and Windows Laptops): 
Microsoft Office365 (Outlook, Excel, Word, OneNote, PowerPoint & Remote Desktop), Microsoft Project, 
Prezi, Bluebeam Revu, Newforma, Deltek Vision, Autodesk (REVIT Review), Evernote, PlanGrid and 
ProCore management software. 

 

INTERESTS 

− Our 4 grandchildren, two daughters, ECO Architecture and Planning, Classic Literature, Literary Theory, 
Art, Creative writing, Sporting Clays, Golf, Dirt-biking, Hiking, Paddle-boarding, Fly-fishing, Softball, 
Tennis, Pickleball, and the soccer of the English Premier League. 

 
References available upon request 

- Page 33 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Mariah Hay:  Disruptive Amplified Outdoor Music and Zoning of Homes on Laurel Avenue

- Page 34 -Item #9.



PUBLIC
 AGENDA REQUEST

MAYOR  
Shirley Sessions 

CITY COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem 
Jay Burke 
Nancy DeVetter 
Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks 
Brian West 

  
CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND  

 CITY MANAGER 
Shawn Gillen 

City Council Agenda Item Request  

Agenda Item Requests and supporting documentation must be submitted to the Clerk of Council by 
4:00PM on the Thursday prior to the next scheduled Council meeting.  If this form is received after the 
deadline, the item will be listed on the next scheduled agenda.  

Council Meeting Date for Request: April 27, 2023 

Item: Disruptive Amplified Outdoor Music and Zoning of Homes on Laurel Avenue 

Explanation: 

Over the past six months, two restaurants, Chamacos and Zunzibar, have opened on Highway 80. These 
restaurants share property lines with homes on the south side of Laurel Avenue. These restaurants both feature 
live amplified outdoor music, and Zunzibar also has an outdoor amplified music system which plays recorded 
music from 11am to 11pm 7 days a week. All amplified music is plainly heard on Laurel Avenue, and can also 
be heard inside many of the residences (with the windows shut) that are closest to these locations, on both the 
south, and north sides of the street. Most of the homes on Laurel are permanent residences for year round 
residents of Tybee, with the exception of a few short term rental homes. This includes multiple families with 
children, residents who work remotely, retired residents, and elderly residents with health concerns.  

The outdoor amplified music creates ongoing disruption to the resident’s right to peaceable enjoyment of their 
properties. It impacts the ability to raise children whose bedtimes are before the bands finish playing and the 
restaurant closes. It impacts those who work remotely and are on zoom calls which can hear the noise. It 
negatively impacts day to day residential life and creates extra stress to those managing chronic health 
conditions. It creates an unfavorable environment for renters who complain about the noise, resulting in lower 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 
(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org
- Page 35 -Item #9.



PUBLIC
 AGENDA REQUEST

ratings and income for short term vacation rentals. And it lowers overall property values on Laurel Avenue.  

The residents of Laurel Ave want restaurants to thrive along Highway 80, but do not believe that the noise being 
generated is required for a restaurant to be successful, and that it should be possible for the restaurants to exist 
without the negative impact to the residential properties along Laurel Ave.  

Currently, the south side of Laurel Avenue is zoned C-2 commercial, and outreach to the City Code 
Enforcement to remediate this issue has be met with the explanation that because of the current zoning, 
businesses on Butler only violate code if the noise they are making is greater than 80 decibels as measured in 
the street on Laurel Avenue, not at the property line that the businesses border.  

The residents of Laurel Avenue assert that the south side of Laurel Avenue is incorrectly zoned commercial, as 
all lots along Laurel Avenue are long standing developed residential properties, and should be protected by the 
city and city code as such.  

Furthermore, the residents of Laurel Ave challenge the permitting of restaurants to regularly act as outdoor live 
music venues with amplified music. Residents request that all outdoor (not in an enclosed and windowed 
space)  music be restricted to acoustic only. 

Paper Work:      Attached*   

            ____x__ Audio/Video Presentation**  

*          Electronic submissions are requested by not required.  Please email to 
jleviner@cityoftybee.org. 

  ** Audio/video presentations must be submitted to the IT department at City Hall  
by 4:00PM on the Thursday prior to the scheduled meeting. 

NOTE:  Request will be postponed if necessary information is not provided. 

Submitted by:  Mariah Hay  

Phone / Email: 717-413-5213, mariahhay@gmail.com 

Comments: ________________________________________________________________________________     

_________ _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Date given to Clerk of Council      April 14, 2023    

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 
(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org
- Page 36 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Crowder Gulf Standby Debris Removal Contract, Timely removal and lawful disposal of all 

eligible storm-generated debris

- Page 37 -Item #10.



- Page 38 -Item #10.



- Page 39 -Item #10.



- Page 40 -Item #10.



- Page 41 -Item #10.



- Page 42 -Item #10.



- Page 43 -Item #10.



- Page 44 -Item #10.



- Page 45 -Item #10.



- Page 46 -Item #10.



- Page 47 -Item #10.



- Page 48 -Item #10.



- Page 49 -Item #10.



- Page 50 -Item #10.



- Page 51 -Item #10.



- Page 52 -Item #10.



- Page 53 -Item #10.



- Page 54 -Item #10.



- Page 55 -Item #10.



- Page 56 -Item #10.



- Page 57 -Item #10.



- Page 58 -Item #10.



- Page 59 -Item #10.



- Page 60 -Item #10.



- Page 61 -Item #10.



- Page 62 -Item #10.



- Page 63 -Item #10.



- Page 64 -Item #10.



- Page 65 -Item #10.



- Page 66 -Item #10.



- Page 67 -Item #10.



- Page 68 -Item #10.



- Page 69 -Item #10.



- Page 70 -Item #10.



- Page 71 -Item #10.



- Page 72 -Item #10.



- Page 73 -Item #10.



- Page 74 -Item #10.



- Page 75 -Item #10.



- Page 76 -Item #10.



- Page 77 -Item #10.



- Page 78 -Item #10.



- Page 79 -Item #10.



- Page 80 -Item #10.



- Page 81 -Item #10.



- Page 82 -Item #10.



- Page 83 -Item #10.



- Page 84 -Item #10.



- Page 85 -Item #10.



- Page 86 -Item #10.



- Page 87 -Item #10.



- Page 88 -Item #10.



- Page 89 -Item #10.



- Page 90 -Item #10.



- Page 91 -Item #10.



- Page 92 -Item #10.



- Page 93 -Item #10.



- Page 94 -Item #10.



- Page 95 -Item #10.



- Page 96 -Item #10.



- Page 97 -Item #10.



- Page 98 -Item #10.



- Page 99 -Item #10.



- Page 100 -Item #10.



- Page 101 -Item #10.



- Page 102 -Item #10.



- Page 103 -Item #10.



- Page 104 -Item #10.



- Page 105 -Item #10.



- Page 106 -Item #10.



- Page 107 -Item #10.



- Page 108 -Item #10.



- Page 109 -Item #10.



- Page 110 -Item #10.



- Page 111 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. Fireworks MOU with Savannah Chamber

- Page 112 -Item #11.



 

 

912-472-5103                    cassidi.kendrick@cityoftybee.org 

www.tybeeislandmainstreet.org        403 Butler Ave. 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
This understanding is made between The City of Tybee Main Street program, and the Savannah Area 
Chamber of Commerce. 
 

 
UNDERSTANDING PURPOSE 
To share the responsibility of the annual fireworks display for Labor Day 2023 and New Years Eve 2023 
between the Main Street Program and the Savannah Area Chamber of Commerce for the purposes of cost 
sharing. 
 
UNDERSTANDING PERIOD 
This understanding will last until the end of the City of Tybee fiscal year, June 30, 2024. It  is subject to 
renewal contingent City Council approval. 
 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
Tybee Island Main Street will: 

1. Work with and hire the firework/display vendor for the show. 
2. Complete annual special event application for the firework displays. 
3. Work with various city staff for planning purposes. 

 
The Savannah Area Chamber of Commerce will: 

1. Pay the contracted amount in full for the firework, or any other display vendor, for the Labor 
Day and New Years Eve firework shows. 

 
TERMINATION 
This MOU shall terminate on June 30, 2024, unless a Renewal Amendment to this MOA or a new MOA 
is executed by the Signatory Parties, which also contains the effective and expiration dates. This MOU 
may be canceled upon 30 calendar days written notice by either party. 
 
  
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this agreement as of the day and year last written 
below. 
 
By: _______________________   By:_________________________ 
 
Savannah Area Chamber of Commerce    Tybee Island Main Street 
 
Date: ____________________   Date:_______________________ 

 
 

 

- Page 113 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12. Purchase Backhoe Loader, FY 2023, DPW Capital Outlay Project, $99,500.00, 350-4210-

2500

- Page 114 -Item #12.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: April 27
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

In the FY2023 City of Tybee Island approved budget, the Department of Public
Works (DPW) budgeted for various capital projects and improvements that will not
be able to be completed due to extenuating circumstances.  To lessen the budget
impact of the FY2024 budget, DPW would like to use some of the excess funds
from the FY2023 budget to purchase a new backhoe loader.  The current DPW
backhoe loader has reached the end of its useful life and was budgeted in FY2024
for replacement. Due to the urgent need to replace the failing backhoe loader,
DPW requested quotes from dealerships for existing backhoe loaders that are
currently in stock and can be delivered in a timely manner. 

Funding for this backhoe loader will use some of the excess funds in the DPW Capital Outlay
in the City of Tybee Island’s Fiscal Year 2023 approved budget, adopted June 23, 2022. The
overall budget for DPW Capital Outlay Project is $742,400.00.  To date DPW has spent
$345,372.00 on projects and improvements.  Projects and improvements currently being
completed have ear-marked approximately another $200,000 leaving a balance of
approximately $197,000 in this account.  The cost of the backhoe loader was $99,500.00
which and will be a Capital purchase under account number 350-4210-54-2500.

Based on the current condition of the existing DPW backhoe loader, I would recommend the
purchase of the John Deere 320-P Tier backhoe loader from Dobbs Equipment out of
Savannah, Georgia in the amount of $99,500.00.

Backhoe Quotes.pdf
Dobbs Equipment Quote.pdf
Low County Machinery Quote.pdf
Yancey Brothers Quote.pdf
Award Memo for DPW Backhoe.docx

- Page 115 -Item #12.



- Page 116 -Item #12.



- Page 117 -Item #12.



- Page 118 -Item #12.



- Page 119 -Item #12.



- Page 120 -Item #12.



- Page 121 -Item #12.



- Page 122 -Item #12.



- Page 123 -Item #12.



- Page 124 -Item #12.



- Page 125 -Item #12.



- Page 126 -Item #12.



- Page 127 -Item #12.



- Page 128 -Item #12.



- Page 129 -Item #12.



- Page 130 -Item #12.



- Page 131 -Item #12.



- Page 132 -Item #12.



- Page 133 -Item #12.



- Page 134 -Item #12.



- Page 135 -Item #12.



- Page 136 -Item #12.



- Page 137 -Item #12.



- Page 138 -Item #12.



- Page 139 -Item #12.



- Page 140 -Item #12.



- Page 141 -Item #12.



- Page 142 -Item #12.



- Page 143 -Item #12.



- Page 144 -Item #12.



- Page 145 -Item #12.



- Page 146 -Item #12.



C:\Users\EASYPD~1\Appdata\Local\Temp\BCL Technologies\Easypdf 8\@BCL@E807CFDF\@BCL@E807CFDF.Docx

  City of Tybee Island
Memorandum
To: City of Tybee Island City Council Members
From: Pete Gulbronson, City Engineer/Director of Infrastructure
Date: April 19, 2023
Re: Purchase of Backhoe Loader for DPW

Background

In the FY2023 City of Tybee Island approved budget, the Department of Public Works (DPW)
budgeted for various capital projects and improvements that will not be able to be completed 
due to extenuating circumstances.  To lessen the budget impact of the FY2024 budget, DPW 
would like to use some of the excess funds from the FY2023 budget to purchase a new 
backhoe loader.  The current DPW backhoe loader has reached the end of its useful life and 
was budgeted in FY2024 for replacement. Due to the urgent need to replace the failing backhoe
loader, DPW requested quotes from dealerships for existing backhoe loaders that are currently 
in stock and can be delivered in a timely manner.  

Overview

The City solicited three (3) written quotes, attached to this memo, for the purchase of a new 
backhoe loader with the trade in of the existing backhoe loader.  The quotes were as follows:

Dobbs Equipment out of Savannah, GA has a new John Deere 320-P Tier backhoe loader in 
stock.  This backhoe meets all of our specifications and the cost was $124,500.00.  Dobbs was 
giving us a trade in allowance of $25,000.00 for our existing backhoe for a total cost of
$99,500.00.  This includes a 24-month/2,000 hour full warranty.  

Low Country Machinery out of Savannah, GA has a new JCB 3CX-15 backhoe loader in stock.  
This backhoe meets all of our specifications and the cost was $121,600.00.  Low Country 
Machinery was giving us a trade in allowance of $22,000.00 for our existing backhoe for a total 
cost of $99,600.00.  This includes a 24-month/2,000 hour warranty.  

Yancey Brothers Company out of Savannah, GA has a new Cat-420 backhoe loader in stock.  
This backhoe meets all of our specifications and the cost was $137,678.00.  Yancey Brothers 
was giving us a trade in allowance of $26,500.00 for our existing backhoe for a total cost of
$111,178.00.  This includes a 12-month/unlimited hours warranty.  

- Page 147 -Item #12.



C:\Users\EASYPD~1\Appdata\Local\Temp\BCL Technologies\Easypdf 8\@BCL@E807CFDF\@BCL@E807CFDF.Docx

Summary

Funding for this backhoe loader will use some of the excess funds in the DPW Capital Outlay in 
the City of Tybee Island’s Fiscal Year 2023 approved budget, adopted June 23, 2022. The overall
budget for DPW Capital Outlay Project is $742,400.00.  To date DPW has spent $345,372.00 on 
projects and improvements.  Projects and improvements currently being completed have ear-
marked approximately another $200,000 leaving a balance of approximately $197,000 in this 
account.  The cost of the backhoe loader was $99,500.00 which and will be a Capital purchase 
under account number 350-4210-54-2500.

Recommended Next Steps:

Based on the current condition of the existing DPW backhoe loader, I would recommend the 
purchase of the John Deere 320-P Tier backhoe loader from Dobbs Equipment out of Savannah, 
Georgia in the amount of $99,500.00.

- Page 148 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

13. Resolution, 2023-06, Georgia Cities Week

- Page 149 -Item #13.



 

 
 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 

 

RESOLUTION 
2023-06 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island recognizing Georgia Cities Week, April 23 – 29, 2023 
and encouraging all citizens to support the celebration and corresponding activities; and  
 
WHEREAS, Georgia Cities Week is a very important time to recognize the important role 
played by city government in our lives; and 
 
WHEREAS, this week offers an important opportunity to spread the word to all the citizens 
of Georgia that they can shape and influence this branch of government which is closest to 
the people; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Georgia Municipal Association and its member cities have joined together to 
teach students and other citizens about municipal government through a variety of different 
projects and information; and 
 
WHEREAS, Georgia Cities Week offers an important opportunity to convey to all the citizens 
of Georgia that they can shape and influence government through their civic involvement. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that I Shirley Sessions and the members of the 
Tybee Island City Council, declare April 23 – 29, 2023 as Georgia Cities Week and further 
encourages all citizens, City Government Officials and employees to do everything possible 
to ensure that this week is recognized and celebrated accordingly.  
 
 
 
         ______________________ 
         Shirley Sessions 
         Mayor, City of Tybee Island  
                
 

- Page 150 -Item #13.



File Attachments for Item:

14. First Reading, 2023-09, Section 3-090, Elevator Requirements

- Page 151 -Item #14.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-9 

ENTITLED: 

ELEVATOR SETBACK EXCEPTIONS AND 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO AMEND SECTION 3-090 TO 

ADD A SUBSECTION 3 ON THE SCHEDULE OF DEVELOPMENT 

REGULATIONS  

 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, (the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and 

improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police and home rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the hardship requirement is not well-suited to the circumstances 

for a variance in instances where hardships may exist to occupants of a residence 

where access is needed but difficult to obtain to higher floors; and 

 

WHEREAS, an exemption is appropriate to remove elevator shafts from the 

setback requirements in residential construction to the extent necessary to 

accommodate standard elevator properties; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the 

City of Tybee Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended as follows: 

 

SECTION 1 

 

Section 3-090, Section 3: 

 

An encroachment to permit one elevator is permissible on an existing elevated 

home to accommodate an elevator into a side or rear setback but only to the extent 

necessary to accommodate the elevator and the appropriate shaft and the 

encroachment shall be no larger than 6 feet x 6 feet within the setback and no 

component or part shall protrude more than 6 feet into the setback upon approval of 

the building official.   

  - Page 152 -Item #14.



 

 

SECTION 2 

 

If any section, subsection, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall be held to 

be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall 

not affect any other section, subsection, clause, provision or portion of this ordinance 

which is not invalid or unconstitutional.  Where the provisions of this ordinance are in 

conflict with other ordinances, the most restrictive provision shall be enforced. 

 

SECTION 3 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed.   

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

SECTION 5 

  

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2023. 

 
ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 2023. 

 

 

_________________________________ 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

ENACTED:     

 
 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 – 2023-9  Section 3-909 Elevator Requirements 4-18-2023 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 – Section 3-090 Elevator Requirements 3-9-2023 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 – Section 3-090 Elevator Requirements 2-1-2023 
- Page 153 -Item #14.



File Attachments for Item:

15. First Reading:  2023-10, Sec 2-010, Change of Setback Definition to Allow for Elevators

- Page 154 -Item #15.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-10 

ENTITLED: 

SETBACK DEFINITION 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO AMEND THE DEFINITION 

OF “SETBACK” IN ORDER TO EXEMPT FROM SETBACK 

REQUIREMENTS THE INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF 

ELEVATORS FOR ACCESS TO PORTIONS OF A RESIDENTIAL 

PROPERTY 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, (the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and 

improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police and home rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the hardship requirement is not well-suited to the circumstances 

for a variance in instances where hardships may exist to occupants of a residence 

where access is needed but difficult to obtain to higher floors; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in the Land Development Code, Article 2, Definitions, Section 

2-010, the section concerning the definition of “Setback” should be revised to correct 

a typographical error, which has apparently developed over various printings; and 

 

 WHEREAS, an exemption is appropriate to remove elevator and shafts from 

the setback requirements in residential construction upon approval of the building 

official to the extent necessary to accommodate standard elevator construction; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the 

City of Tybee Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended so as revise the 

definition of “Setback” as follows: 

 

 

 

- Page 155 -Item #15.



 

SECTION 1 

 

Land Development Code, Article 2, Definitions, Section 2-010: 

Setback means the minimum horizontal distance between the front, rear, or 

side lot lines and the existing or proposed edges of the structure.  The term “required 

setback” means a line beyond which a building is not permitted to extend under the 

provisions set forth in this Land Development Code establishing minimum depth 

and width of yards.  Eaves not exceeding 24 inches are exempt from setback 

requirements.  Eaves in excess of 24 inches are not exempt from setback 

requirements to the extent they exceed 24 inches.  On existing structures, one 

elevator facility and elevator shaft is exempt from side and/or rear yard setback 

requirements upon approval of the building official, but only to the extent necessary 

in order to accommodate the installation and maintenance of an elevator and the 

appropriate shaft and the encroachment shall be no larger than 6 feet x 6 feet within 

the setback and no component or part shall protrude more than 6 feet into the setback.  

See, Section 3-090(3). 

 

SECTION 2 

 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid 

or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in 

no way effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby 

declared as the intent of the City of Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance 

would have been adopted had such invalid or unconstitutional portion not been 

included herein. 

 

SECTION 3 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed.   

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

  

- Page 156 -Item #15.



 
 

SECTION 5 

  

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2023. 

 
ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 2023. 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

ENACTED:     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 - 2023-10   Setback – Elevator Requirements 4-18-2023 
572-1 Ordinances 2023 – Setback – Elevator Requirements 3-9-2023 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 - Setback – Elevator Requirements 2-1-2023 

- Page 157 -Item #15.



File Attachments for Item:

16. First Reading, 2023-21, Sec 58-179, Fees

- Page 158 -Item #16.



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
TYBEE ISLAND SO AS TO UPDATE THE DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN SERVICES 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF _________AND TO ESTABLISH AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the 

State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinance to protect and improve the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its police 

and home rule powers; and 

 WHEREAS, it is desirable to update the description for certain vendors providing 

massage therapy services to reflect the title now commonly used for such providers. 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of 

Tybee Island duly assembled as follows: 

SECTION I 

 Existing Tybee Code Section 58-179 is amended as follows: 

Any business of the type listed below operating within the city shall pay a regulatory fee, even if such 
business has paid a business tax in Savannah, Tybee Island or another jurisdiction, and regulatory fees as defined in 
section 58-154(b) are established for those businesses operating within the corporate limits of the city, according 
to the following schedules:  

Alcoholic Beverages For 2022 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$730.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $760.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,130.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,600.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

- Page 159 -Item #16.



 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2023 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,110.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $945.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,410.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,950.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2024 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,490.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,130.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,690.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $2,300.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

- Page 160 -Item #16.



 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2025 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,870.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,315.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,970.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $2,650.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2026 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$2,250.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,500.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $2,250.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $3,000.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

- Page 161 -Item #16.



 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Miscellaneous  

 

License Classification  Fee  

Advertising, off-premises (billboards) TIC Sec. 8-4-24:   

—32 square feet (4'×8')  $50.00  

—128 square feet (8'×16')  $75.00  

—192 square feet (12'×16')  $100.00  

—288 square feet (12'×24')  $125.00  

Amusements, itinerant (circus, carnival) TIC 7-1-1/7-1-4  $75.00 per day;  
$600.00 maximum  

Beach equipment, beach vehicle, and watercraft rental, per site TIC 9-3-30/9-3-36  $300.00  

Book and magazine canvasser; registration fee  $45.00  

Building and construction contractors, subcontractors and tradesmen, licensed in 
another jurisdiction; registration fee  

$20.00  

Escort  $500.00  

Live entertainment  $50.00  

  Massage Therapist $250.00  

Private parking lots   

Residentially zoned  1.00  

Commercial  $200.00  

Promoter—special events, pageants, festivals, exhibitions, sporting events, shows, 
etc.  

 

—Per single event TIC 7-1-1/-4  $50.00  

—Transient merchant TIC 9-1-20  $75.00 per day  

Short term vacation rentals  $100.00 per STVR unit as 
provided in section 34-
256 et seq.  

Transient rentals; registration fee  $45.00  

Vendor, festival hawker  $25.00 per day  

Vendor, arts and crafts  $25.00 per event  

 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, a business that is already licensed and paying an 
occupation tax to Tybee shall not have to pay a regulatory fee in connection with vending activities as long as such 
activities are limited to the same line of product or service covered by the occupational tax paid.  

SECTION II 

All ordinance and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION III 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of 

Ordinance, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be 

renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

- Page 162 -Item #16.



4857-2998-9470.1 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on ____ day of _____, 2023. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ______ 2023. 

 

       _____________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
FIRST READING:  __________ 
 
SECOND READING: __________ 
 
ENACTED:   __________  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 163 -Item #16.



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-_____-21_ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
TYBEE ISLAND SO AS TO UPDATE THE DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN SERVICES 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF _________AND TO ESTABLISH AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the 

State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinance to protect and improve the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its police 

and home rule powers; and 

 WHEREAS, it is desirable to update the description for certain vendors providing 

massage therapy services to reflect the title now commonly used for such providers. 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of 

Tybee Island duly assembled as follows: 

SECTION I 

 Existing Tybee Code Section 58-179 is amended as follows: 

Any business of the type listed below operating within the city shall pay a regulatory fee, even if such 
business has paid a business tax in Savannah, Tybee Island or another jurisdiction, and regulatory fees as defined in 
section 58-154(b) are established for those businesses operating within the corporate limits of the city, according 
to the following schedules:  

Alcoholic Beverages For 2022 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$730.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $760.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,130.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,600.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

- Page 164 -Item #16.



 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2023 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,110.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $945.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,410.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,950.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2024 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,490.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,130.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,690.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $2,300.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

- Page 165 -Item #16.



 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2025 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,870.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,315.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,970.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $2,650.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2026 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$2,250.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,500.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $2,250.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $3,000.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

- Page 166 -Item #16.



 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Miscellaneous  

 

License Classification  Fee  

Advertising, off-premises (billboards) TIC Sec. 8-4-24:   

—32 square feet (4'×8')  $50.00  

—128 square feet (8'×16')  $75.00  

—192 square feet (12'×16')  $100.00  

—288 square feet (12'×24')  $125.00  

Amusements, itinerant (circus, carnival) TIC 7-1-1/7-1-4  $75.00 per day;  
$600.00 maximum  

Beach equipment, beach vehicle, and watercraft rental, per site TIC 9-3-30/9-3-36  $300.00  

Book and magazine canvasser; registration fee  $45.00  

Building and construction contractors, subcontractors and tradesmen, licensed in 
another jurisdiction; registration fee  

$20.00  

Escort  $500.00  

Live entertainment  $50.00  

Masseuse  Massage Therapist $250.00  

Private parking lots   

Residentially zoned  1.00  

Commercial  $200.00  

Promoter—special events, pageants, festivals, exhibitions, sporting events, shows, 
etc.  

 

—Per single event TIC 7-1-1/-4  $50.00  

—Transient merchant TIC 9-1-20  $75.00 per day  

Short term vacation rentals  $100.00 per STVR unit as 
provided in section 34-
256 et seq.  

Transient rentals; registration fee  $45.00  

Vendor, festival hawker  $25.00 per day  

Vendor, arts and crafts  $25.00 per event  

 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, a business that is already licensed and paying an 
occupation tax to Tybee shall not have to pay a regulatory fee in connection with vending activities as long as such 
activities are limited to the same line of product or service covered by the occupational tax paid.  

 

 

 

SECTION II 

All ordinance and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION III 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of 

- Page 167 -Item #16.



4881-2172-5790.1 

Ordinance, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be 

renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on ____ day of _____, 2023. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ______ 2023. 

 

       _____________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
FIRST READING:  __________ 
 
SECOND READING: __________ 
 
ENACTED:   __________  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 168 -Item #16.



File Attachments for Item:

17. First Reading 2023-22, GMEBS-R:  City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement Plan 

Amendment Ordinance with Adoption

- Page 169 -Item #17.



RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SERVICES 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Chairman 
W. D. Palmer, III 
Councilmember, Camilla 
 
Vice Chairman 
Rebecca L. Tydings 
City Attorney, Centerville 
 
Secretary-Treasurer 
Larry H. Hanson 
Executive Director 

Trustees: 

Shelly Berryhill 
Councilmember, Hawkinsville 

Linda Blechinger 
Mayor, Auburn 
 
Ronald Feldner 
City Manager, Garden City 
 
Marcia Hampton 
City Manager, 
Douglasville 
 
Meg Kelsey 
City Manager, LaGrange 
 
Sam Norton 
Mayor, Dahlonega 
 
David Nunn 
City Manager, Madison 
 
James F. Palmer 
Mayor, Calhoun 
 
John Reid 
Mayor, Eatonton 
 
Kenneth L. Usry 
Mayor, Thomson 
 
Clemontine Washington 
Mayor Pro Tem, Midway 
 
Donna Whitener 

   
Vince Williams 
Mayor, Union City 

The Burgess Building • 201 Pryor Street, SW • Atlanta, GA 30303-3606 • Tel 404.688.0472 • Toll Free 1.888.488.4462 • Website www.gacities.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

April 19, 2023 
 
TRANSMITTED VIA E-MAIL 
(jaime.spear@cityoftybee.org) 
 
Ms. Jaime Spear 
Human Resources Administrator  
City of Tybee Island  
P.O. Box 2749 
Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749  
 
RE: City of Tybee Island GMEBS Defined Benefit Retirement Plan; Amendment to 

Increase Benefit for Elected Officials and Change Vesting Requirement 
 
Dear Ms. Spear: 
 
Per the City’s request, enclosed please find a draft amended Adoption Agreement and a draft 
amended General Addendum for the City of Tybee Island’s Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit 
System (“GMEBS”) Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (“Plan”). The amendment to the Plan 
increases the monthly benefit for elected officials to $25 a month per year of service as an elected 
official (see Adoption Agreement, p. 24) and changes the vesting requirement from 10-year 
graduated vesting to a 5-year cliff vesting schedule for employees who terminate on or after May 
11, 2023 (see Adoption Agreement, p. 29).  
 
The Adoption Agreement provides that the amendment will become effective on May 11, 2023. 
Please note that per O.C.G.A. § 47-5-40, the Adoption Agreement has been drafted in the 
form of an ordinance.  
 
If the draft Adoption Agreement and General Addendum are acceptable as drafted, please have 
the designated representatives execute, sign and date each document where indicated. Once the 
documents are executed, please scan and email each document to Gina Gresham at 
rgresham@gacities.com. We will then countersign the documents and return an electronic copy to 
you. Please note that GMEBS will not execute plan documents that have been edited by the city. 
If the documents require revisions, please let us know before adopting them. 
 
If you have any questions about the information provided in this letter or require further 
information, please feel free to contact me at (678) 686-6236 or kjeselnik@gacities.com. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Kevin H. Jeselnik  
Assistant General Counsel 

 
Encl.  
 
C: Mr. Edward Hughes, City Attorney, City of Tybee Island (w/ encl.)  
 Ms. Marinetty Bienvenu, Director, Employee Benefit Services (w/o encl.)  
 Ms. Michelle Warner, Director, Retirement Field Services and DC Program (w/o encl.)  
      Ms. Gwin Hall, Senior Associate General Counsel (w/o encl.)  

- Page 170 -Item #17.



City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

GENERAL ADDENDUM TO THE 
GEORGIA MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES BENEFIT SYSTEM 

DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

This is an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement completed by the City 
of Tybee Island, Georgia as follows (complete one or more sections, as 
applicable): 

*** Items (1) through (11) of General Addendum – Not Applicable *** 

(12) Minimum and Maximum Limits on Normal Retirement Benefit Amount 
for Regular Employees.  

Check one or more as applicable: 

 (a) The minimum monthly normal retirement benefit amount shall 
be:   $________,  _____% of the Participant's Final Average 
Earnings (specify minimum monthly amount or percentage). 

The minimum benefit amount elected above shall apply to (check 
one): 

  All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
  Only the following Participants (must specify) 
 _______________________________________________________. 

 (b) The maximum monthly normal retirement benefit amount shall 
be:   $_______,  100% (specify maximum monthly amount or 
percentage) of:   the highest monthly earnings used to calculate 
the Participant's Final Average Earnings,  the Participant's Final 
Average Earnings. This maximum benefit limit shall apply in 
addition to and not in lieu of any applicable limits under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 415.  

The maximum benefit amount elected above shall apply to (check 
one): 

  All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
  Only the following Participants (must specify) 

_______________________________________________________. 
 

- Page 171 -Item #17.



– 2 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Note: The minimum or maximum limit elected above shall apply to the 
standard form of payment.  If the Participant elects a different 
form of benefit payment, the limit shall be actuarially adjusted 
based on the form of benefit payment elected. 

*** Items (13) through (16) of General Addendum – Not Applicable *** 
 

The terms of the foregoing Addendum to the Adoption Agreement are 
approved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia this 
________ day of _____________, 20____. 

 

Attest:      CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 
 
_________________________  ____________________________________ 
City Clerk        Mayor  
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
Approved: 
 
__________________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 The terms of the foregoing Addendum are approved by the Board of 
Trustees of the Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Trustees of the Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System has caused its Seal and the signatures of 
its duly authorized officers to be affixed this ______ day of 
__________________________, 20____. 

 
 Board of Trustees 
 Georgia Municipal Employees 
 Benefit System 
(SEAL) 
 
      ____________________________________ 
   Secretary 

- Page 172 -Item #17.



City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES 
BENEFIT SYSTEM 

 
 

 
DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 

 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE 

and 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

for 
 

City of Tybee Island 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Form Volume Submitter Adoption Agreement 
 Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2013 
 (With Amendments Taking Effect on or Before January 1, 2017) 

- Page 173 -Item #17.



 

 – i – 
 
City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

PAGE 

I.  AN ORDINANCE .......................................................................................................................1 

II.  GMEBS DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT ...............................................................................................2 
1. ADMINISTRATOR ................................................................................................2 
2. ADOPTING EMPLOYER.......................................................................................2 
3. GOVERNING AUTHORITY .................................................................................2 
4. PLAN REPRESENTATIVE ....................................................................................2 
5. PENSION COMMITTEE ........................................................................................3 
6. TYPE OF ADOPTION ............................................................................................3 
7. EFFECTIVE DATE .................................................................................................4 
8. PLAN YEAR ...........................................................................................................5 
9. CLASSES OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES ...............................................................5 

A. Eligible Regular Employees ........................................................................5 
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority ......................5 

10. ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS .................................................................................6 
A. Hours Per Week (Regular Employees) ........................................................6 
B. Months Per Year (Regular Employees) .......................................................7 

11. WAITING PERIOD.................................................................................................7 
12. ESTABLISHING PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN ............................................8 
13. CREDITED SERVICE ............................................................................................8 

A. Credited Past Service with Adopting Employer ..........................................8 
B. Prior Military Service ................................................................................10 
C. Prior Governmental Service .......................................................................11 
D. Leave Conversion for Unused Paid Time Off (e.g., Sick, 

Vacation, or Personal Leave) .....................................................................13 
14. RETIREMENT ELIGIBILITY ..............................................................................14 

A. Early Retirement Qualifications ................................................................14 
B. Normal Retirement Qualifications .............................................................15 
C. Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications ..........................................17 
D. Disability Benefit Qualifications ...............................................................21 

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMPUTATION .......................................................21 
A. Maximum Total Credited Service ..............................................................21 
B. Monthly Normal Retirement Benefit Amount ...........................................22 
C. Monthly Early Retirement Benefit Amount ..............................................24 
D. Monthly Late Retirement Benefit Amount (check one): ...........................25 
E. Monthly Disability Benefit Amount ..........................................................25 
F. Minimum/Maximum Benefit For Elected Officials ..................................26 

16. SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS FOLLOWING BONA FIDE 
SEPARATION OF SERVICE; COLA ..................................................................27 

- Page 174 -Item #17.



 

 – ii – 
 
City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

A. Re-Employment as Eligible Employee After Normal, 
Alternative Normal, or Early Retirement and Following 
Bona Fide Separation of Service (see Master Plan Section 
6.06(c) Regarding Re-Employment as an Ineligible 
Employee and Master Plan Section 6.06(e) and (f) 
Regarding Re-Employment After Disability Retirement) .........................27 

B. Cost Of Living Adjustment ........................................................................28 
17. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BEFORE RETIREMENT; 

VESTING ..............................................................................................................29 
A. Eligible Regular Employees ......................................................................29 
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority ....................29 

18. PRE-RETIREMENT DEATH BENEFITS ...........................................................30 
A. In-Service Death Benefit............................................................................30 
B. Terminated Vested Death Benefit ..............................................................32 

19. EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS .........................................................................32 
20. MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION 

AGREEMENT .......................................................................................................33 
21. TERMINATION OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT ......................................34 
22. EMPLOYER ADOPTION AND AUTHORIZATION FOR 

AMENDMENTS ...................................................................................................34 
 

- Page 175 -Item #17.



 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

I.  AN ORDINANCE 

An Ordinance to amend and restate the Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of 
Tybee Island, Georgia in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the 
attached Adoption Agreement, any Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Georgia Municipal 
Employees Benefit System (GMEBS) Master Plan Document, and the GMEBS Trust Agreement.  
When accepted by the authorized officers of the City and GMEBS, the foregoing shall constitute 
a Contract between the City and GMEBS, all as authorized and provided by O.C.G.A. § 47-5-1 et 
seq. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and it 
is hereby ordained by the authority thereof: 

Section 1.  The Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia is 
hereby amended and restated as set forth in and subject to the terms and conditions stated in the 
following Adoption Agreement, any Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System (GMEBS) Master Plan Document, and the GMEBS Trust 
Agreement. 

 
 
 

Ordinance continued on page 37 
  

- Page 176 -Item #17.



 

– 2 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

II.  GMEBS DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

1.  ADMINISTRATOR 

Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System 
201 Pryor Street, SW 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
Telephone:  404-688-0472 
Facsimile:  404-577-6663 

 
2.  ADOPTING EMPLOYER 

Name: City of Tybee Island, Georgia 

3.  GOVERNING AUTHORITY 

Name: Mayor and Council 
Address: P.O. Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328-2749 
Phone: (912) 472-5080 
Facsimile: (912) 786-5737 
 
 

4.  PLAN REPRESENTATIVE 

[To represent Governing Authority in all communications with GMEBS and Employees] 
(See Section 2.49 of Master Plan)  

 
 
Name: City Manager 
Address: P.O. Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328-2749 
Phone: (912) 472-5080 
Facsimile: (912) 786-5737 
 

 

- Page 177 -Item #17.



 

– 3 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

5.  PENSION COMMITTEE 

[Please designate members by position.  If not, members of Pension Committee shall be 
determined in accordance with Article XIV of Master Plan] 

 
Position: Clerk of Council (City Clerk)  
Position: City Manager  
Position: Finance Officer of the City  
Position: One (1) active City Employee appointed by the Mayor and Council 
Position: One (1) active City Employee appointed by the Mayor and Council  
Position: One (1) member of the Mayor and Council designated by the Mayor and Council  
 
In the event the title of a position on the Pension Committee should change, an amendment 
to the Adoption Agreement shall not be necessary; rather, such position shall be held and 
filled by the individual with the most similar job description. 
 
Pension Committee Secretary: Human Resources Administrator  
Address: P.O. Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328-2749 
Phone: (912) 472-5029 
Facsimile: (912) 786-5737 
 

6.  TYPE OF ADOPTION 

This Adoption Agreement is for the following purpose (check one): 

 This is a new defined benefit plan adopted by the Adopting Employer for its Employees.  
This plan does not replace or restate an existing defined benefit plan. 

 This is an amendment and restatement of the Adopting Employer's preexisting 
non-GMEBS defined benefit plan. 

 This is an amendment and restatement of the Adoption Agreement previously adopted by 
the Employer, as follows (check one or more as applicable): 

 To update the Plan to comply with PPA, HEART, WRERA, and other applicable 
federal laws and guidance. 

 To make the following amendments to the Adoption Agreement (must specify 
below revisions made in this Adoption Agreement; all provisions must be 
completed in a manner that satisfies the definite written program requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): This is an amendment 
to: 1) increase the monthly Normal Retirement benefit for elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority in such positions on or after May 11, 
2023, to $25.00 a month per year of Service as an elected or appointed  member 
of the Governing Authority (see Adoption Agreement, p. 24); and 2) reduce 
the Vesting requirement from 10-year graduated Vesting to 5-year cliff 

- Page 178 -Item #17.



 

– 4 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Vesting for Eligible Regular Employees who Terminate on or after May 11, 
2023 (see Adoption Agreement, p. 29). 

7.  EFFECTIVE DATE 

NOTE:  This Adoption Agreement and any Addendum, with the accompanying Master Plan 
Document, is designed to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a), as applicable to a 
governmental qualified defined benefit plan, and is part of the GMEBS Defined Benefit 
Retirement Plan.  Plan provisions designed to comply with certain provisions of the Pension 
Protection Act of 2006 ("PPA"); the Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008 
("HEART"); and the Worker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 ("WRERA"); and Plan 
provisions designed to comply with certain provisions of additional changes in federal law and 
guidance from the Internal Revenue Service under Internal Revenue Service Notice 2012-76 (the 
2012 Cumulative List) are effective as of the applicable effective dates set forth in the Adoption 
Agreement and Master Plan Document.  By adopting this Adoption Agreement, with its 
accompanying Master Plan Document, the Adopting Employer is adopting a plan document 
intended to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a), as updated by PPA, HEART, 
WRERA, and the 2012 Cumulative List with the applicable effective dates. 

(1) Complete this item (1) only if this is a new defined benefit plan which does not replace 
or restate an existing defined benefit plan.   

The effective date of this Plan is      . 
(insert effective date of this Adoption Agreement not earlier than January 1, 2013). 

(2) Complete this item (2) only if this Plan is being adopted to replace a non-GMEBS 
defined benefit plan.   

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Master Document or in this Adoption 
Agreement, the effective date of this restatement shall be the ____________________(insert 
effective date of this Adoption Agreement not earlier than January 1, 2013). This Plan 
is intended to replace and serve as an amendment and restatement of the Employer’s 
preexisting plan, which became effective on       (insert original effective date of 
preexisting plan). 

(3) Complete this item (3) only if this is an amendment and complete restatement of the 
Adopting Employer's existing GMEBS defined benefit plan.   

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Master Document or in this Adoption 
Agreement, the effective date of this restatement shall be May 11, 2023 (insert effective 
date of this Adoption Agreement not earlier than January 1, 2013).  

This Plan is adopted as an amendment and restatement of the Employer's preexisting GMEBS 
Adoption Agreement, which became effective on October 22, 2020 (insert effective date of 
most recent Adoption Agreement preceding this Adoption Agreement).   

The Employer's first Adoption Agreement became effective July 1, 2003 (insert effective 
date of Employer's first GMEBS Adoption Agreement).  The Employer's GMEBS Plan 
was originally effective May 1, 1987 (insert effective date of Employer's original GMEBS 

- Page 179 -Item #17.



 

– 5 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Plan).  (If the Employer's Plan was originally a non-GMEBS Plan, then the Employer's 
non-GMEBS Plan was originally effective       (if applicable, insert effective date of 
Employer's original non-GMEBS Plan).)  

8.  PLAN YEAR 

Plan Year means (check one): 

 Calendar Year 
 Employer Fiscal Year commencing  . 
 Other (must specify month and day commencing): May 1. 

9.  CLASSES OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES 

Only Employees of the Adopting Employer who meet the Master Plan's definition of 
"Employee" may be covered under the Adoption Agreement.  Eligible Employees shall not include 
non-governmental employees, independent contractors, leased employees, nonresident aliens, or 
any other ineligible individuals, and this Section 9 must not be completed in a manner that violates 
the "exclusive benefit rule" of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(2). 

A. Eligible Regular Employees 

Regular Employees include Employees, other than elected or appointed members of the Governing 
Authority or Municipal Legal Officers, who are regularly employed in the services of the Adopting 
Employer.  Subject to the other conditions of the Master Plan and the Adoption Agreement, the 
following Regular Employees are eligible to participate in the Plan (check one): 

 ALL - All Regular Employees, provided they satisfy the minimum hour and other 
requirements specified under "Eligibility Conditions" below. 

 ALL REGULAR EMPLOYEES EXCEPT for the following employees (must specify; 
specific positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):   
Any City Manager who agrees in his or her employment contract with the City not to 
participate in this Plan shall be ineligible to participate in this Plan with respect to such 
employment. In the event that a City Manager agrees in his or her employment 
contract with the City not to participate in this Plan, the City shall provide GMEBS 
with written notice of such contract provision(s) within 180 days after the City 
Manager becomes employed with the City in such position; provided, however, that 
notwithstanding any provision in this Adoption Agreement or the Master Plan to the 
contrary, the failure of the City to provide such written notice to GMEBS shall not 
make such a City Manager eligible to participate in this Plan (see Adoption Agreement 
pp. 7-8 concerning participation in the Plan by City Managers). 

B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority 

An Adopting Employer may elect to permit participation in the Plan by elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority and/or Municipal Legal Officers, provided they otherwise 
meet the Master Plan's definition of "Employee" and provided they satisfy any other requirements 
specified by the Adopting Employer.  Municipal Legal Officers to be covered must be specifically 

- Page 180 -Item #17.



 

– 6 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

identified by position.  Subject to the above conditions, the Employer hereby elects the following 
treatment for elected and appointed officials: 

(1) Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority (check one): 

 ARE NOT eligible to participate in the Plan. 

 ARE eligible to participate in the Plan. 

Please specify any limitations on eligibility to participate here (e.g., service on or after certain date, 
or special waiting period provision):  Each elected or appointed member of the Governing 
Authority who holds an office of the Employer on July 1, 2003, shall be qualified to 
participate in the Plan on such date. Each other elected or appointed member of the 
Governing Authority who holds an office subsequent to July 1, 2003 shall be qualified to 
participate in the Plan on the first day of the month immediately following or coinciding with 
the first date after July 1, 2003, that he or she occupies any elective office of the Governing 
Authority (see Adoption Agreement pp. 7-8 regarding participation in the Plan). In 
accordance with Section 4.03(b) of the Master Plan, an elected or appointed member of the 
Governing Authority who initially takes office or returns to office on or after January 1, 
2015, shall be qualified to participate in the Plan on the date he or she initially takes such 
office or returns to office. 
 

(2) Municipal Legal Officers (check one): 

 ARE NOT eligible to participate in the Plan. 

 ARE eligible to participate in the Plan.  The term "Municipal Legal Officer" shall include only 
the following positions (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):  . 

 
Please specify any limitations on eligibility to participate here (e.g., service on or after certain date) 
(must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program requirement of 
Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   . 
 

10.  ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS 

A. Hours Per Week (Regular Employees) 

The Adopting Employer may specify a minimum number of work hours per week which 
are required to be scheduled by Regular Employees in order for them to become and remain 
"Eligible Regular Employees" under the Plan.  It is the responsibility of the Adopting Employer 
to determine whether these requirements are and continue to be satisfied.  The Employer 
hereby elects the following minimum hour requirement for Regular Employees:  

 No minimum 
 20 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 30 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 Other: 35 hours/week (must not exceed 40 hours/week regularly scheduled) 

- Page 181 -Item #17.



 

– 7 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Exceptions: If a different minimum hour requirement applies to a particular class or classes of 
Regular Employees, please specify below the classes to whom the different requirement applies 
and indicate the minimum hour requirement applicable to them.  

Class(es) of Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named): Eligible Regular Employees employed 
on or before October 10, 1996, provided they are not Terminated and reemployed after such 
date. 

Minimum hour requirement applicable to excepted Regular Employees: 

 No minimum 
 20 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 30 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 Other: _________________ (must not exceed 40 hours/week regularly scheduled) 

B. Months Per Year (Regular Employees) 

The Adopting Employer may specify a minimum number of work months per year which 
are required to be scheduled by Regular Employees in order for them to become and remain 
"Eligible Employees" under the Plan. It is the responsibility of the Adopting Employer to 
determine whether these requirements are and continue to be satisfied.  The Employer hereby 
elects the following minimum requirement for Regular Employees: 

 No minimum 
 At least 5 months per year (regularly scheduled)  

 
Exceptions: If different months per year requirements apply to a particular class or classes of 
Regular Employees, the Employer must specify below the classes to whom the different 
requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable to them. 

Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named): _________________________________. 

The months to year requirement for excepted class(es) are: 

 No minimum 
 At least _______ months per year (regularly scheduled)  

 
11.  WAITING PERIOD 

Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.02(b) of the Master Plan, Eligible Regular Employees 
shall not have a waiting period before participating in the Plan.  Likewise, elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority and Municipal Legal Officers, if eligible to participate in the 
Plan, shall not have a waiting period before participating in the Plan. 

- Page 182 -Item #17.



 

– 8 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

12.  ESTABLISHING PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN 

Participation in the Plan is considered mandatory for all Eligible Employees who satisfy 
the eligibility conditions specified in the Adoption Agreement, except as provided in 
Section 4.03(e) of the Master Plan.  However, the Employer may specify below that participation 
is optional for certain classes of Eligible Employees, including Regular Employees, elected or 
appointed members of the Governing Authority, Municipal Legal Officers, City Managers, and/or 
Department Heads.  If participation is optional for an Eligible Employee, then in order to become 
a Participant, he must make a written election to participate within 120 days after employment, 
election or appointment to office, or if later, the date he first becomes eligible to participate in the 
Plan.  The election is irrevocable, and the failure to make the election within the 120 day time limit 
shall be deemed an irrevocable election not to participate in the Plan.   

Classes for whom participation is optional (check one): 

 None (Participation is mandatory for all Eligible Employees except as provided in 
Section 4.03(e) of the Master Plan). 

 Participation is optional for the following Eligible Employees (must specify - specific 
positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be named; all positions or 
classes specified must be Eligible Employees): If a former City Manager or other 
Employee has previously waived or declined participation in the Plan prior to July 
1, 2003, said City Manager or Employee shall not receive credit for any service 
with the City prior to July 1, 2003. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, 
since July 1, 2003, the City’s Plan has operated and will continue to operate as 
follows with respect to participation in the Plan by the City Manager and by 
elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority. The City Manager is 
required to participate in the Plan, provided he or she meets the eligibility 
requirements for participation that are applicable to other Regular Employees; 
however, a City Manager who affirmatively agrees in his or her employment 
contract with the City not to participate in this Plan is ineligible to participate in 
the Plan (see p. 5 relating to Eligible Regular Employees). Each elected or 
appointed member of the Governing Authority automatically participates in the 
Plan unless he or she irrevocable elects in writing not to participate in the Plan 
within 120 days following the date on which he or she first takes such office or 
returns to office, as applicable, and such election is submitted to the Pension 
Committee Secretary in the form and manner required by the City within said 
120 day period. 

13.  CREDITED SERVICE 

In addition to Current Credited Service the Adopting Employer may include as Credited 
Service the following types of service: 

A. Credited Past Service with Adopting Employer 

Credited Past Service means the number of years and complete months of Service with the 
Adopting Employer prior to the date an Eligible Employee becomes a Participant which are treated 
as credited service under the Plan. 

- Page 183 -Item #17.



 

– 9 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(1) Eligible Employees Employed on Original Effective Date of GMEBS Plan.  
With respect to Eligible Employees who are employed by the Adopting Employer on the original 
Effective Date of the Employer's GMEBS Plan, Service with the Adopting Employer prior to the 
date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant (including any Service prior to the Effective 
Date of the Plan) shall be treated as follows (check one):   

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service). 

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), except for Service rendered prior to 
____________________________ (insert date).  

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), except as follows (must specify other 
limitation in a manner that satisfies the definite written program requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

 No Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service). 

(2) Previously Employed, Returning to Service after Original Effective Date.  If 
an Eligible Employee is not employed on the original Effective Date of the Employer's GMEBS 
Plan, but he returns to Service with the Adopting Employer sometime after the Effective Date, his 
Service prior to the date he becomes a Participant (including any Service prior the Effective Date) 
shall be treated as follows (check one): 

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), subject to any limitations imposed above with 
respect to Eligible Employees employed on the Effective Date. 

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), provided that after his return to employment, 
the Eligible Employee performs Service equal to the period of the break in Service 
or one (1) year, whichever is less.  Any limitations imposed above with respect to 
Eligible Employees employed on the Effective Date shall also apply.   

 No Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service). 

Other limitation(s) on Recognition of Credited Past Service (must specify in a manner that 
satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   
Notwithstanding any other provision, Credited Past Service shall not include any tenure of 
office as an elected or appointed member of the Governing Authority unless the Participant 
was serving as an elected or appointed member of the Governing Authority or Eligible 
Regular Employee on July 1, 2003. 
 

- Page 184 -Item #17.



 

– 10 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(3) Eligible Employees Initially Employed After Effective Date. If an Eligible 
Employee's initial employment date is after the original Effective Date of the Employer's GMEBS 
Plan, his Credited Past Service shall include only the number of years and complete months of 
Service from his initial employment date to the date he becomes a Participant in the Plan. 

(4) Newly Eligible Classes of Employees. If a previously ineligible class of 
Employees becomes eligible to participate in the Plan, the Employer must specify in an addendum 
to this Adoption Agreement whether and to what extent said Employees' prior service with the 
Employer shall be treated as Credited Past Service under the Plan. 

B. Prior Military Service 

Note:  This Section does not concern military service required to be credited under USERRA 
– See Section 3.02 of the Master Plan for rules on the crediting of USERRA Military Service. 

(1) Credit for Prior Military Service. 

The Adopting Employer may elect to treat military service rendered prior to a Participant's initial 
employment date or reemployment date as Credited Service under the Plan. Unless otherwise 
specified by the Employer under "Other Conditions" below, the term "Military Service" shall be 
as defined in the Master Plan.  Except as otherwise required by federal or state law or under "Other 
Conditions" below, Military Service shall not include service which is credited under any other 
local, state, or federal retirement or pension plan. 

Military Service credited under this Section shall not include any service which is otherwise 
required to be credited under the Plan by federal or state law.  Prior Military Service shall be treated 
as follows (check one):  

 Prior Military Service is not creditable under the Plan (if checked, skip to 
Section 13.C. – Prior Governmental Service). 

 Prior Military Service shall be counted as Credited Service for the following 
purposes (check one or more as applicable): 

 Computing amount of benefits payable. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for vesting. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for benefit eligibility. 

(2) Maximum Credit for Prior Military Service. 

Credit for Prior Military Service shall be limited to a maximum of _____ years (insert number). 

(3) Rate of Accrual for Prior Military Service. 

Credit for Prior Military Service shall accrue at the following rate (check one): 

 One month of military service credit for every _______ month(s) (insert number) 
of Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

- Page 185 -Item #17.



 

– 11 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 One year of military service credit for every _____ year(s) (insert number) of 
Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 All military service shall be creditable (subject to any caps imposed above) after 
the Participant has completed _______ years (insert number) of Credited Service 
with the Employer. 

 Other requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

(4) Payment for Prior Military Service Credit(check one): 

 Participants shall not be required to pay for military service credit. 

 Participants shall be required to pay for military service credit as follows: 

 The Participant must pay ____% of the actuarial cost of the service credit 
(as defined below). 

 The Participant must pay an amount equal to (must specify in a manner 
that satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

 
Other Conditions for Award of Prior Military Service Credit (must specify in a manner that 
satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

(5) Limitations on Service Credit Purchases.  Unless otherwise specified in an 
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, for purposes of this Section and Section 13.C. concerning 
prior governmental service credit, the term "actuarial cost of service credit" is defined as set forth 
in the Service Credit Purchase Addendum.  In the case of a service credit purchase, the Participant 
shall be required to comply with any rules and regulations established by the GMEBS Board of 
Trustees concerning said purchases. 

C. Prior Governmental Service 

Note: A Participant's prior service with other GMEBS employers shall be credited for 
purposes of satisfying the minimum service requirements for Vesting and eligibility for 
Retirement and pre-retirement death benefits as provided under Section 9.05 of the Master 
Plan, relating to portability service.  This Section 13(C) does not need to be completed in 
order for Participants to receive this portability service credit pursuant to Section 9.05 of the 
Master Plan. 

(1) Credit for Prior Governmental Service. 

The Adopting Employer may elect to treat governmental service rendered prior to a Participant's 
initial employment date or reemployment date as creditable service under the Plan.  Subject to any 
limitations imposed by law, the term "prior governmental service" shall be as defined by the 

- Page 186 -Item #17.



 

– 12 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Adopting Employer below.  The Employer elects to treat prior governmental service as follows 
(check one): 

 Prior governmental service is not creditable under the Plan (if checked, skip to 
Section 13.D. – Unused Sick/Vacation Leave). 

 Prior governmental service shall be counted as Credited Service for the following 
purposes under the Plan (check one or more as applicable): 

 Computing amount of benefits payable. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for vesting. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for benefit eligibility. 

(2) Definition of Prior Governmental Service. 

Prior governmental service shall be defined as follows: (must specify in a manner that satisfies 
the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): ___________. 
 
Unless otherwise specified above, prior governmental service shall include only full-time service 
(minimum hour requirement same as that applicable to Eligible Regular Employees). 

(3) Maximum Credit for Prior Governmental Service. 

Credit for prior governmental service shall be limited to a maximum of ________ years (insert 
number). 

(4) Rate of Accrual for Prior Governmental Service Credit. 

Credit for prior governmental service shall accrue at the following rate (check one): 

 One month of prior governmental service credit for every _____ month(s) (insert 
number) of Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 One year of prior governmental service credit for every _____ year(s) (insert 
number) of Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 All prior governmental service shall be creditable (subject to any caps imposed 
above) after the Participant has completed _____ years (insert number) of 
Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 Other requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): ________. 
 

(5) Payment for Prior Governmental Service Credit. 

  Participants shall not be required to pay for governmental service credit. 

 Participants shall be required to pay for governmental service credit as follows: 

- Page 187 -Item #17.



 

– 13 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 The Participant must pay ____% of the actuarial cost of the service credit. 
 The Participant must pay an amount equal to (must specify in a manner 

that satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): _________________________. 

Other Conditions for Award of Prior Governmental Service Credit (must specify in a manner 
that satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) 
and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

D. Leave Conversion for Unused Paid Time Off (e.g., Sick, Vacation, or Personal Leave) 

(1) Credit for Unused Paid Time Off. 

Subject to the limitations in Section 3.01 of the Master Plan, an Adopting Employer may elect to 
treat accumulated days of unused paid time off for a terminated Participant, for which the 
Participant is not paid, as Credited Service.  The only type of leave permitted to be credited under 
this provision is leave from a paid time off plan which qualifies as a bona fide sick and vacation 
leave plan (which may include sick, vacation or personal leave) and which the Participant may 
take as paid leave without regard to whether the leave is due to illness or incapacity.  The Credited 
Service resulting from the conversion of unused paid time off must not be the only Credited Service 
applied toward the accrual of a normal retirement benefit under the Plan.  The Pension Committee 
shall be responsible to certify to GMEBS the total amount of unused paid time off that is creditable 
hereunder.  

Important Note:  Leave cannot be converted to Credited Service in lieu of receiving a cash 
payment.  If the Employer elects treating unused paid time off as Credited Service, the conversion 
to Credited Service will be automatic, and the Participant cannot request a cash payment for the 
unused paid time off.   

The Employer elects the following treatment of unused paid time off: 

 Unused paid time off shall not be treated as Credited Service (if checked, skip to 
Section 14 – Retirement Eligibility). 

 The following types of unused paid time off for which the Participant is not paid 
shall be treated as Credited Service under the Plan (check one or more as 
applicable): 

  Unused sick leave 
  Unused vacation leave 
  Unused personal leave  
  Other paid time off (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 

written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-
1(b)(1)(i)):   . 

- Page 188 -Item #17.



 

– 14 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(2) Minimum Service Requirement. 

In order to receive credit for unused paid time off, a Participant must meet the following 
requirement at termination (check one): 

 The Participant must be 100% vested in a normal retirement benefit. 
 The Participant must have at least _______ years (insert number) of Total 

Credited Service (not including leave otherwise creditable under this Section).  
 Other (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program 

requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): ________. 

 
(3) Use of Unused Paid Time Off Credit.  Unused paid time off for which the 

Participant is not paid shall count as Credited Service for the following purposes under the Plan 
(check one or more as applicable): 

 Computing amount of benefits payable. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for vesting. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for benefit eligibility. 

(4) Maximum Credit for Unused Paid Time Off. 

Credit for unused paid time off for which the Participant is not paid shall be limited to a maximum 
of ____ months (insert number). 

(5) Computation of Unused Paid Time Off. 

Unless otherwise specified by the Adopting Employer under "Other Conditions" below, each 
twenty (20) days of creditable unused paid time off shall constitute one (1) complete month of  
Credited Service under the Plan.  Partial months shall not be credited. 

(6) Other Conditions (please specify, subject to limitations in Section 3.01 of 
Master Plan; must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

14.  RETIREMENT ELIGIBILITY 

A. Early Retirement Qualifications 

Early retirement qualifications are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age 55 (insert number) 

 Completion of 10 years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

Exceptions:  If different early retirement eligibility requirements apply to a particular class or 
classes of Eligible Employees, the Employer must specify below the classes to whom the different 
requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable to them.  

- Page 189 -Item #17.



 

– 15 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Eligible Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 
 
Early retirement qualifications for excepted class(es) are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

B. Normal Retirement Qualifications 

Note: Please complete this Section and also list "Alternative" Normal Retirement 
Qualifications, if any, in Section 14.C. 

(1) Regular Employees 

Normal retirement qualifications for Regular Employees are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age 65 (insert number) 

 Completion of 5 years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 
to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ______________________________________. 

Exceptions:  If different normal retirement qualifications apply to a particular class or classes of 
Regular Employees, the Employer must specify below the classes to whom the different 
requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable to them.  

Class(es) of Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ________________________________. 

Normal retirement qualifications for excepted class(es) are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 

- Page 190 -Item #17.



 

– 16 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 
to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ______________________________________. 

(2) Elected or Appointed Members of Governing Authority 

Complete this Section only if elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or 
Municipal Legal Officers are permitted to participate in the Plan. Normal retirement 
qualifications for this class are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age 65 (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 
to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ____________________ __________________. 

Exceptions:  If different normal retirement qualifications apply to particular elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers, the Employer must specify 
below to whom the different requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable 
to them.  

Particular elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers 
to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):  . 

Normal retirement qualifications for excepted elected or appointed members of the Governing 
Authority or Municipal Legal Officers are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 

- Page 191 -Item #17.



 

– 17 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ___________________. 

C. Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications 

The Employer may elect to permit Participants to retire with unreduced benefits after they satisfy 
service and/or age requirements other than the regular normal retirement qualifications specified 
above.  The Employer hereby adopts the following alternative normal retirement qualifications: 

Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications (check one or more, as applicable): 
 
(1)  Not applicable (the Adopting Employer does not offer alternative normal 

retirement benefits under the Plan). 

(2)  Alternative Minimum Age & Service Qualifications (if checked, please 
complete one or more items below, as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number)   

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant 
meets minimum age and service requirements specified immediately above 
and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under 
applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan provisions concerning 
recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to account for the value of 
benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule shall apply to (check 
one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) of Participants (must 
specify - specific positions are permissible; specific individuals may not 
be named): _______________________ __________________________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

A Participant (check one):   is required   is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the above qualifications in order to qualify for 
this alternative normal retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 

- Page 192 -Item #17.



 

– 18 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 
 

(3)  Rule of _______ (insert number).  The Participant's combined Total 
Credited Service and age must equal or exceed this number.  Please complete 
additional items below:  

To qualify for this alternative normal retirement benefit, the Participant (check one 
or more items below, as applicable): 

 Must have attained at least age ______ (insert number) 

 Must not satisfy any minimum age requirement 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if the 
Participant meets the minimum age and service requirements specified 
immediately above and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is 
permitted under applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan 
provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to 
account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule 
shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ________________________________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

A Participant (check one):  is required   is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the Rule in order to qualify for this alternative 
normal retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

(4)  Alternative Minimum Service.  A Participant is eligible for an alternative 
normal retirement benefit if he has at least ________ years (insert number) of 
Total Credited Service, regardless of the Participant's age. 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if the 

- Page 193 -Item #17.



 

– 19 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Participant meets the minimum service requirement specified immediately 
above and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted 
under applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan provisions 
concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to account for 
the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule shall apply 
to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) of 
Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ________________________________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

A Participant (check one):  is required   is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the qualifications for this alternative normal 
retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

(5)  Other Alternative Normal Retirement Benefit. 

Must specify qualifications (in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 
 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if the 
Participant meets minimum age and service requirements specified 
immediately above and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is 
permitted under applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan 
provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to 
account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule 
shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): _____________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

- Page 194 -Item #17.



 

– 20 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

A Participant (check one):   is required  is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the qualifications for this alternative normal 
retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): 
 . 
 

(6)  Other Alternative Normal Retirement Benefit for Public Safety 
Employees Only. 

Must specify qualifications (in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
Attainment of age 55 and completion of 20 years of Total Credited Service. 
 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees who are Public Safety 
Employees permitted  (i.e., a qualifying Participant may commence 
receiving retirement benefits while in service without first incurring a Bona 
Fide Separation from Service), if the Participant meets minimum age and 
service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 50 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), 
subject to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset 
applied at re-retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior 
to re-retirement.  This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  
only the following class(es) of Participants (must specify - specific 
positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):____. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All public safety employee Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following public safety employee Participants (must specify - 
specific positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be 
named): Firefighters and Police Officers, as defined in Section 2.34 and 
2.51 of the Master Plan, respectively. 

A public safety employee Participant (check one):   is required  is not required 
to be in the service of the Employer at the time he satisfies the qualifications for 
this alternative normal retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

 Note:  "Public safety employees" are defined under the Internal Revenue Code for this 
purpose as employees of a State or political subdivision of a State who provide police 

- Page 195 -Item #17.



 

– 21 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

protection, firefighting services, or emergency medical services for any area within the 
jurisdiction of such State or political subdivision. 

 
D. Disability Benefit Qualifications 

Subject to the other terms and conditions of the Master Plan and except as otherwise provided in 
an Addendum to this Adoption Agreement, disability retirement qualifications are based upon 
Social Security Administration award criteria or as otherwise provided under Section 2.23 of the 
Master Plan.  The Disability Retirement benefit shall commence as of the Participant's Disability 
Retirement Date under Section 2.24 of the Master Plan. 

To qualify for a disability benefit, a Participant must have the following minimum number of years 
of Total Credited Service (check one): 

 Not applicable (the Adopting Employer does not offer disability retirement benefits 
under the Plan). 

 No minimum. 
 _______ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  __________________________. 

15.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMPUTATION 

A. Maximum Total Credited Service  

The number of years of Total Credited Service which may be used to calculate a benefit is (check 
one or all that apply): 

 not limited. 

 limited to _________ years for all Participants. 

 limited to ________ years for the following classes of Eligible Regular Employees: 

 All Eligible Regular Employees. 

 Only the following Eligible Regular Employees:   . 

 limited to _______ years as an elected or appointed member of the Governing 
Authority.  

 limited to _______ years as a Municipal Legal Officer. 

 Other (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   . 

- Page 196 -Item #17.



 

– 22 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

B. Monthly Normal Retirement Benefit Amount 

(1) Regular Employee Formula 

The monthly normal retirement benefit for Eligible Regular Employees shall be 1/12 of (check 
and complete one or more as applicable): 

 (a) Flat Percentage Formula.  ______% (insert percentage) of Final 
Average Earnings multiplied by years of Total Credited Service as an 
Eligible Regular Employee. 

This formula applies to:   

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): 
 . 

 (b) Alternative Flat Percentage Formula. ______% (insert percentage) of 
Final Average Earnings multiplied by years of Total Credited Service as an 
Eligible Regular Employee.  This formula applies to the following 
Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):  . 

 (c) Split Final Average Earnings Formula. 1.5% (insert percentage) of 
Final Average Earnings up to the amount of Covered Compensation (see 
subsection (2) below for definition of Covered Compensation), plus 
2.0% (insert percentage) of Final Average Earnings in excess of said 
Covered Compensation, multiplied by years of Total Credited Service as an 
Eligible Regular Employee.  

This formula applies to:  

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): . 

 (d) Alternative Split Final Average Earnings Formula.  _____ % (insert 
percentage) of Final Average Earnings up to the amount of Covered 
Compensation (see subsection (2) below for definition of Covered 
Compensation), plus ______% (insert percentage) of Final Average 
Earnings in excess of said Covered Compensation, multiplied by years of 
Total Credited Service as an Eligible Regular Employee.   

This formula applies to:   

 All Participants.   
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

- Page 197 -Item #17.



 

– 23 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

[Repeat above subsections as necessary for each applicable benefit formula and Participant 
class covered under the Plan.] 

(2) Covered Compensation (complete only if Split Formula(s) is checked above): 

Covered Compensation is defined as (check one or more as applicable): 

 (a) A.I.M.E. Covered Compensation as defined in Section 2.18 of the Master 
Plan.  This definition of Covered Compensation shall apply to (check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

 (b) Dynamic Break Point Covered Compensation as defined in Section 2.19 
of the Master Plan.  This definition of Covered Compensation shall apply 
to (check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):   . 

 (c) Table Break Point Covered Compensation as defined in Section 2.20 of 
the Master Plan.  This definition of Covered Compensation shall apply to 
(check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following class(es) of Participants (must specify - specific 

positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be 
named):  . 

 (d) Covered Compensation shall mean a Participant's annual Earnings that do 
not exceed $_______________ (specify amount).  This definition shall 
apply to (check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

(3) Final Average Earnings 

Unless otherwise specified in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, Final Average Earnings 
is defined as the monthly average of Earnings paid to a Participant by the Adopting Employer for 
the 60 (insert number not to exceed 60) consecutive months of Credited Service preceding the 
Participant's most recent Termination in which the Participant's Earnings were the highest, 
multiplied by 12.  Note:  GMEBS has prescribed forms for calculation of Final Average Earnings 
that must be used for this purpose. 

This definition of Final Average Earnings applies to: 

- Page 198 -Item #17.



 

– 24 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; 

specific individuals may not be named):  . 

[Repeat above subsection as necessary for each applicable definition and Participant class 
covered under the Plan.] 

(4) Formula for Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority 

The monthly normal retirement benefit for members of this class shall be as follows (check one):  

 Not applicable (elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal 
Legal Officers are not permitted to participate in the Plan). 

 $25.00 (insert dollar amount) per month for each year of Total Credited Service as an 
elected or appointed member of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officer or 
major fraction thereof (6 months and 1 day). 

This formula applies to: 

 All elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers 
eligible to participate. 

 Only the following elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal 
Legal Officers eligible to participate (must specify - specific positions are permissible; 
specific individuals may not be named):  . 

[Repeat above subsection as necessary for each applicable formula for classes of elected or 
appointed members covered under the Plan.] 

C. Monthly Early Retirement Benefit Amount 

Check and complete one or more as applicable:  

 (1) Standard Early Retirement Reduction Table. The monthly Early 
Retirement benefit shall be computed in the same manner as the monthly 
Normal Retirement benefit, but the benefit shall be reduced on an 
Actuarially Equivalent basis in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master 
Plan to account for early commencement of benefits. This provision shall 
apply to: 

 All Participants. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

 (2) Alternative Early Retirement Reduction Table.  The monthly Early 
Retirement benefit shall be computed in the same manner as the monthly 
Normal Retirement benefit, but the benefit shall be reduced to account for 
early commencement of benefits based on the following table.  This table 
shall apply to: 

- Page 199 -Item #17.



 

– 25 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 All Participants. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

Alternative Early Retirement Reduction Table 
 

Number of Years Before 
[Age ___(Insert Normal 

Retirement Age)] 
(check as applicable) 

 

Percentage of  
Normal Retirement Benefit* 

(complete as applicable) 

    0 1.000 
    1 0.___ 
    2 0.___ 
    3 0.___ 
    4 0.___ 
    5 0.___ 
    6 0.___ 
    7 0.___ 
    8 0.___ 
    9 0.___ 
  10 0.___ 
  11 0.___ 
  12 0.___ 
  13 0.___ 
  14 0.___ 
  15 0.___ 

 
*Interpolate for whole months 

D. Monthly Late Retirement Benefit Amount (check one): 

 (1) The monthly Late Retirement benefit shall be computed in the same manner 
as the Normal Retirement Benefit, based upon the Participant's Accrued 
Benefit as of his Late Retirement Date. 

 (2) The monthly Late Retirement benefit shall be the greater of:  (1) the 
monthly retirement benefit accrued as of the Participant's Normal 
Retirement Date, actuarially increased in accordance with the actuarial table 
contained in Section 12.05 of the Master Plan; or (2) the monthly retirement 
benefit accrued as of the Participant's Late Retirement Date, without further 
actuarial adjustment under Section 12.06 of the Master Plan. 

E. Monthly Disability Benefit Amount 

The amount of the monthly Disability Benefit shall be computed in the same manner as the Normal 
Retirement benefit, based upon the Participant's Accrued Benefit as of his Disability Retirement 
Date. 

- Page 200 -Item #17.



 

– 26 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Minimum Disability Benefit.  The Adopting Employer may set a minimum Disability Benefit.  
The Employer elects the following minimum Disability benefit (check one): 

 Not applicable (the Adopting Employer does not offer disability retirement benefits 
under the Plan). 

 No minimum is established. 

 No less than (check one):   20%  10%  ____% (if other than 20% or 10% 
insert percentage amount) of the Participant's average monthly Earnings for the 
12 calendar month period (excluding any period of unpaid leave of absence) 
immediately preceding his Termination of Employment as a result of a Disability.  
(Unless otherwise specified in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, no 
minimum will apply to elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority 
or Municipal Legal Officers.) 

 No less than (check one):   66 2/3 %  ______% (if other than 66 2/3%, insert 
percentage amount) of the Participant's average monthly Earnings for the 
12 calendar month period (excluding any period of unpaid leave of absence) 
immediately preceding his Termination of Employment as a result of a Disability, 
less any monthly benefits paid from federal Social Security benefits as a result of 
disability as reported by the Employer.  (Unless otherwise specified in an 
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, no minimum will apply to elected or 
appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers.) 

Note:  The Adopting Employer is responsible for reporting to GMEBS any amounts to be 
used in an offset. 

F. Minimum/Maximum Benefit For Elected Officials 

In addition to any other limitations imposed by federal or state law, the Employer may impose a 
cap on the monthly benefit amount that may be received by elected or appointed members of the 
Governing Authority.  The Employer elects (check one): 

 Not applicable (elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority do not 
participate in the Plan). 

 No minimum or maximum applies. 

 Monthly benefit for Service as an elected or appointed member of the Governing 
Authority may not exceed 100% of the Participant's final salary as an elected or 
appointed member of the Governing Authority. 

 Other minimum or maximum (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

- Page 201 -Item #17.



 

– 27 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

16.  SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS FOLLOWING BONA FIDE 
SEPARATION OF SERVICE; COLA 

 
A. Re-Employment as Eligible Employee After Normal, Alternative Normal, or Early 

Retirement and Following Bona Fide Separation of Service (see Master Plan Section 
6.06(c) Regarding Re-Employment as an Ineligible Employee and Master Plan 
Section 6.06(e) and (f) Regarding Re-Employment After Disability Retirement) 

(1) Reemployment After Normal or Alternative Normal Retirement.  In the event 
that a Retired Participant 1) is reemployed with the Employer as an Eligible Employee (as defined 
in the Plan) after his Normal or Alternative Normal Retirement Date and after a Bona Fide 
Separation from Service, or 2) is reemployed with the Employer in an Ineligible Employee class, 
and subsequently again becomes an Eligible Employee (as defined in the Plan) due to the addition 
of such class to the Plan after his Normal or Alternative Normal Retirement Date, the following 
rule shall apply (check one): 

 (a) The Participant's benefit shall be suspended in accordance with 
Section 6.06(a)(1) of the Master Plan for as long as the Participant 
remains employed. 

 (b) The Participant may continue to receive his retirement benefit in 
accordance with Section 6.06(b) of the Master Plan.  This rule shall 
apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify (specific 
positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be 
named) - benefits of those Retired Participants not listed shall 
be suspended in accordance with Section 6.06(a) of the Master 
Plan if they return to work with the Employer):_____________. 

 
(2) Reemployment After Early Retirement.  In the event a Participant Retires with 

an Early Retirement benefit after a Bona Fide Separation from Service 1) is reemployed with the 
Employer as an Eligible Employee before his Normal Retirement Date; or 2) is reemployed with 
the Employer in an Ineligible Employee class, and subsequently again becomes an Eligible 
Employee (as defined in the Plan) before his Normal Retirement Date due to the addition of such 
class to the Plan, the following rule shall apply (check one or more as applicable): 

(a)  The Participant's Early Retirement benefit shall be suspended in 
accordance with Section 6.06(a)(1) of the Master Plan for as long as the 
Participant remains employed. 

This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants;  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify - specific positions 
are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ___________. 

(b)  The Participant's Early Retirement benefit shall be suspended in 
accordance with Section 6.06(a)(1) of the Master Plan.  However, the 
Participant may begin receiving benefits after he satisfies the qualifications 
for Normal Retirement or Alternative Normal Retirement, as applicable, 

- Page 202 -Item #17.



 

– 28 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

and after satisfying the minimum age parameters of Section 6.06(a)(3) of 
the Master Plan, in accordance with Section 6.06(b)(2)(B)(i) of the Master 
Plan. 

This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants;  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify - specific positions 
are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ___________. 

(c)  The Participant's Early Retirement benefit shall continue in 
accordance with Section 6.06(b)(2)(B)(ii) of the Master Plan.   

This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants;  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify - specific positions 
are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ___________. 

B. Cost Of Living Adjustment 

The Employer may elect to provide for an annual cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) in the amount 
of benefits being received by Retired Participants and Beneficiaries, which shall be calculated and 
paid in accordance with the terms of the Master Plan.  The Employer hereby elects the following 
(check one): 

 (1) No cost-of-living adjustment. 

 (2) Variable Annual cost-of-living adjustment not to exceed 3.0% (insert 
percentage). 

 (3) Fixed annual cost-of-living adjustment equal to ______% (insert 
percentage). 

The above cost-of-living adjustment shall apply with respect to the following Participants (and 
their Beneficiaries) (check one): 

 All Participants (and their Beneficiaries).  
 Participants (and their Beneficiaries) who terminate employment on 

or after June 1, 1999 (insert date). 
 Other (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 

program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 
1.401-1(b)(1)(i)); specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):   . 

 
The Adjustment Date for the above cost-of-living adjustment shall be (if not specified, the 
Adjustment Date shall be January 1): _________________________________________________. 
 

- Page 203 -Item #17.



 

– 29 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

17.  TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BEFORE RETIREMENT; 
VESTING 

A. Eligible Regular Employees 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, a Participant who is an Eligible Regular 
Employee and whose employment is terminated for any reason other than death or retirement shall 
earn a vested right in his accrued retirement benefit in accordance with the following schedule 
(check one): 

 No vesting schedule (immediate vesting). 

 Cliff Vesting Schedule.  Benefits shall be 100% vested after the Participant has a 
minimum of 5 years (insert number not to exceed 10) of Total Credited Service.  
Benefits remain 0% vested until the Participant satisfies this minimum. 

 Graduated Vesting Schedule.  Benefits shall become vested in accordance with 
the following schedule (insert percentages):  

COMPLETED YEARS  
OF TOTAL CREDITED SERVICE 

 
VESTED PERCENTAGE 

1     % 
2     % 
3     % 
4     % 
5     % 
6     % 
7     % 
8     % 
9     % 

10     % 
 
Exceptions:  If a vesting schedule other than that specified above applies to a special class(es) of 
Regular Employees, the Employer must specify the different vesting schedule below and the 
class(es) to whom the different vesting schedule applies.  

Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 
 
Vesting Schedule for excepted class (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 
 
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, a Participant who is an elected or appointed 
member of the Governing Authority or a Municipal Legal Officer shall earn a vested right in his 
accrued retirement benefit for Credited Service in such capacity in accordance with the following 
schedule (check one): 

- Page 204 -Item #17.



 

– 30 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 Not applicable (elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority are not 
permitted to participate in the Plan). 

 No vesting schedule (immediate vesting). 

 Other vesting schedule (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
Benefits shall be 100% Vested after the Participant has a minimum of 4 years 
of Total Credited Service. Benefits remain 0% Vested until the Participant 
satisfies this minimum. If the Participant holds office as an elected or 
appointed member of the Governing Authority or is employed as an Eligible 
Regular Employee on July 1, 2003, then Service with the City prior to July 1, 
2003, will be taken into account in determining whether the Participant has 
satisfied the 4-year Vesting requirement. Otherwise, service prior to July 1, 
2003, will not be taken into account. 

18.  PRE-RETIREMENT DEATH BENEFITS 

A. In-Service Death Benefit 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, the Employer hereby elects the following 
in-service death benefit, to be payable in the event that an eligible Participant's employment with 
the Employer is terminated by reason of the Participant's death prior to Retirement (check and 
complete one): 

(1)  Auto A Death Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the Participant's 
Pre-Retirement Beneficiary, equal to the decreased monthly retirement benefit that 
would have otherwise been payable to the Participant, had he elected a 100% joint 
and survivor benefit under Section 7.03 of the Master Plan.  In order to be eligible 
for this benefit, a Participant must meet the following requirements (check one): 

 The Participant must be vested in a normal retirement benefit. 

 The Participant must have ______ years (insert number) of Total Credited 
Service. 

 The Participant must be eligible for Early or Normal Retirement. 

 Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-
1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

(2)  Actuarial Reserve Death Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the 
Participant's Pre-Retirement Beneficiary, actuarially equivalent to the reserve 
required for the Participant's anticipated Normal Retirement benefit, provided the 
Participant meets the following eligibility conditions (check one): 

- Page 205 -Item #17.



 

– 31 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 The Participant shall be eligible upon satisfying the eligibility requirements 
of Section 8.02(c) of the Master Plan. 

 The Participant must have _____ years (insert number) of Total Credited 
Service.  

 Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-
1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

Imputed Service.  For purposes of computing the actuarial reserve death benefit, 
the Participant's Total Credited Service shall include (check one): 

 Total Credited Service accrued prior to the date of the Participant's death. 

 Total Credited Service accrued prior to the date of the Participant's death, 
plus (check one):   one-half (½)   ___________ (insert other fraction) 
of the Service between such date of death and what would otherwise have 
been the Participant's Normal Retirement Date.  (See Master Plan 
Section 8.02(b) regarding 10-year cap on additional Credited Service.) 

Minimum In-Service Death Benefit for Vested Employees Equal to Terminated Vested Death 
Benefit.  Unless otherwise specified under "Exceptions" below, if a Participant's employment is 
terminated by reason of the Participant's death prior to Retirement, and if as of the date of death 
the Participant is vested but he does not qualify for the in-service death benefit, then the Auto A 
Death Benefit will be payable, provided the Auto A Death Benefit is made available to terminated 
vested employees under the Adoption Agreement (see "Terminated Vested Death Benefit" below). 

(3) Exceptions:  If an in-service death benefit other than that specified above applies 
to one or more classes of Participants, the Employer must specify below the death benefit payable, 
the class(es) to whom the different death benefit applies, and the eligibility conditions for said 
death benefit. 

Alternative Death Benefit (must specify formula that satisfies the definite written program 
and definitely determinable requirements of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401-1(a)(2) 
and 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate limits applicable to governmental plans under Code 
Sections 401(a)(17) and 415):  . 

Participants to whom alternative death benefit applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

Eligibility conditions for alternative death benefit (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   . 

- Page 206 -Item #17.



 

– 32 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

B. Terminated Vested Death Benefit 

(1) Complete this Section only if the Employer offers a terminated vested death 
benefit.  The Employer may elect to provide a terminated vested death benefit, to be payable in 
the event that a Participant who is vested dies after termination of employment but before 
Retirement benefits commence.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, the 
Employer hereby elects the following terminated vested death benefit (check one): 

 Auto A Death Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the Participant's 
Pre-Retirement Beneficiary, equal to the decreased monthly retirement benefit that 
would have otherwise been payable to the Participant had he elected a 100% joint 
and survivor benefit under Section 7.03 of the Master Plan. 

 Accrued Retirement Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the Participant's 
Pre-Retirement Beneficiary which shall be actuarially equivalent to the 
Participant's Accrued Normal Retirement Benefit determined as of the date of 
death.  

(2) Exceptions:  If a terminated vested death benefit other than that specified above 
applies to one or more classes of Participants, the Employer must specify below the death benefit 
payable, the class(es) to whom the different death benefit applies, and the eligibility conditions for 
said death benefit. 

Alternative Death Benefit (must specify formula that satisfies the definite written program 
and definitely determinable requirements of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401-1(a)(2) 
and 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate limits applicable to governmental plans under Code 
Sections 401(a)(17) and 415):  . 

Participants to whom alternative death benefit applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

Eligibility conditions for alternative death benefit (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

19.  EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 

(1) Employee contributions (check one): 

 Are not required. 

 Are required in the amount of _____% (insert percentage) of Earnings for all 
Participants. 

 Are required in the amount of _____% (insert percentage) of Earnings for  
Participants in the following classes (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

- Page 207 -Item #17.



 

– 33 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

[Repeat above subsection as necessary if more than one contribution rate applies.]  

(2) Pre-Tax Treatment of Employee Contributions.  If Employee Contributions are 
required in Subsection (1) above, an Adopting Employer may elect to "pick up" Employee 
Contributions to the Plan in accordance with IRC Section 414(h).  In such case, Employee 
Contributions shall be made on a pre-tax rather than a post-tax basis, provided the requirements of 
IRC Section 414(h) are met.  If the Employer elects to pick up Employee Contributions, it is the 
Employer's responsibility to ensure that Employee Contributions are paid and reported in 
accordance with IRC Section 414(h).  The Adopting Employer must not report picked up 
contributions as wages subject to federal income tax withholding. 

The Employer hereby elects (check one):  

 To pick up Employee Contributions.  By electing to pick up Employee 
Contributions, the Adopting Employer specifies that the contributions, although 
designated as Employee Contributions, are being paid by the Employer in lieu of 
Employee Contributions.  The Adopting Employer confirms that the executor of 
this Adoption Agreement is duly authorized to take this action as required to pick 
up contributions.  This pick-up of contributions applies prospectively, and it is 
evidenced by this contemporaneous written document.  On and after the date of the 
pick-up of contributions, a Participant does not have a cash or deferred election 
right (within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(k)-1(a)(3)) with 
respect to the designated Employee Contributions, which includes not having the 
option of receiving the amounts directly instead of having them paid to the Plan. 

 Not to pick up Employee Contributions.  

(3) Interest on Employee Contributions.  The Adopting Employer may elect to pay 
interest on any refund of Employee Contributions. 

 Interest shall not be paid. 

 Interest shall be paid on a refund of Employee Contributions at a rate established 
by GMEBS from time to time. 

 Other rate of interest (must specify rate in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

20.  MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION 
AGREEMENT 

If an Adopting Employer desires to amend any of its elections contained in this Adoption 
Agreement (or any Addendum), the Governing Authority by official action must adopt an 
amendment of the Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum) or a new Adoption Agreement (or 
Addendum) must be adopted and forwarded to the Board for approval.  The amendment of the 

- Page 208 -Item #17.



 

– 34 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

new Adoption Agreement (or Addendum) is not effective until approved by the Board and other 
procedures required by the Plan have been implemented. 

The Administrator will timely inform the Adopting Employer of any amendments made by the 
Board to the Plan. 

21.  TERMINATION OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

This Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) may be terminated only in accordance with the 
Plan.  The Administrator will inform the Adopting Employer in the event the Board should decide 
to discontinue this volume submitter program. 

22.  EMPLOYER ADOPTION AND AUTHORIZATION FOR 
AMENDMENTS 

Adoption.  The Adopting Employer hereby adopts the terms of the Adoption Agreement and any 
Addendum, which is attached hereto and made a part of this ordinance.  The Adoption Agreement 
(and, if applicable, the Addendum) sets forth the Employees to be covered by the Plan, the benefits 
to be provided by the Adopting Employer under the Plan, and any conditions imposed by the 
Adopting Employer with respect to, but not inconsistent with, the Plan.  The Adopting Employer 
reserves the right to amend its elections under the Adoption Agreement and any Addendum, so 
long as the amendment is not inconsistent with the Plan or the Internal Revenue Code or other 
applicable law and is approved by the Board of Trustees of GMEBS.  The Adopting Employer 
acknowledges that it may not be able to rely on the volume submitter advisory letter if it makes 
certain elections under the Adoption Agreement or the Addendum. 

The Adopting Employer hereby agrees to abide by the Master Plan, Trust Agreement, and rules 
and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees of GMEBS, as each may be amended from time 
to time, in all matters pertaining to the operation and administration of the Plan.  It is intended that 
the Act creating the Board of Trustees of GMEBS, this Plan, and the rules and regulations of the 
Board are to be construed in harmony with each other.  In the event of a conflict between the 
provisions of any of the foregoing, they shall govern in the following order: 

(1) The Act creating the Board of Trustees of The Georgia Municipal Employees' 
Benefit System, O.C.G.A. Section 47-5-1 et seq. (a copy of which is included in 
the Appendix to the Master Defined Benefit Plan Document) and any other 
applicable provisions of O.C.G.A. Title 47; 

(2) The Master Defined Benefit Plan Document and Trust Agreement; 

(3) This Ordinance and Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum); and 

(4) The rules and regulations of the Board. 

In the event that any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Plan shall be declared 
or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall in no manner affect the previously 
existing provisions or the other section or sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases of 

- Page 209 -Item #17.



 

– 35 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

this Plan, which shall remain in full force and effect, as if the section, subsection, sentence, clause 
or phrase so declared or adjudicated invalid or unconstitutional were not originally a part hereof.  
The Governing Authority hereby declares that it would have passed the remaining parts of this 
Plan or retained the previously existing provisions if it had known that such part or parts hereof 
would be declared or adjudicated invalid or unconstitutional. 

This Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) may only be used in conjunction with Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System Master Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Document 
approved by the Internal Revenue Service under advisory letter J501718a dated March 30, 2018.  
The Adopting Employer understands that failure to properly complete this Adoption Agreement 
(or any Addendum), or to operate and maintain the Plan and Trust in accordance with the terms of 
the completed Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum), Master Plan Document and Trust, may 
result in disqualification of the Adopting Employer's Plan under the Internal Revenue Code.  
Inquiries regarding the adoption of the Plan, the meaning of Plan provisions, or the effect of the 
IRS advisory letter should be directed to the Administrator.  The Administrator is Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System, with its primary business offices located at:  201 Pryor 
Street, SW, Atlanta, Georgia, 30303.  The business telephone number is:  (404) 688-0472.  The 
primary person to contact is:  GMEBS Legal Counsel.   

Authorization for Amendments.  Effective on and after February 17, 2005, the Adopting 
Employer hereby authorizes the volume submitter practitioner who sponsors the Plan on behalf of 
GMEBS to prepare amendments to the Plan, for approval by the Board, on its behalf as provided 
under Revenue Procedure 2005-16, as superseded by Revenue Procedure 2015-36, Revenue 
Procedure 2011-49, and Announcement 2005-37.  Effective January 1, 2013, Georgia Municipal 
Association, Inc., serves as the volume submitter practitioner for the Plan.  Employer notice and 
signature requirements were met for the Adopting Employer before the effective date of 
February 17, 2005.  The Adopting Employer understands that the implementing amendment reads 
as follows: 

On and after February 17, 2005, the Board delegates to the Practitioner the 
authority to advise and prepare amendments to the Plan, for approval by the Board, 
on behalf of all Adopting Employers, including those Adopting Employers who 
have adopted the Plan prior to the January 1, 2013, restatement of the Plan, for 
changes in the Code, the regulations thereunder, revenue rulings, other statements 
published by Internal Revenue Service, including model, sample, or other required 
good faith amendments (but only if their adoption will not cause such Plan to be 
individually designed), and for corrections of prior approved plans.  These 
amendments shall be applied to all Adopting Employers.  Employer notice and 
signature requirements have been met for all Adopting Employers before the 
effective date of February 17, 2005.  In any event, any amendment prepared by the 
Practitioner and approved by the Board will be provided by the Administrator to 
Adopting Employers. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, no amendment to the Plan shall 
be prepared on behalf of any Adopting Employer as of either:  

• the date the Internal Revenue Service requires the Adopting 
Employer to file Form 5300 as an individually designed plan as a 

- Page 210 -Item #17.



 

– 36 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

result of an amendment by the Adopting Employer to incorporate a 
type of Plan not allowable in a volume submitter plan as described 
in Revenue Procedure 2015-36; or  

• as of the date the Plan is otherwise considered an individually 
designed plan due to the nature and extent of the amendments. 

If the Adopting Employer is required to obtain a determination letter for any 
reason in order to maintain reliance on the advisory letter, the Practitioner's 
authority to amend the Plan on behalf of the Adopting Employer is conditioned on 
the Plan receiving a favorable determination letter. 

The Adopting Employer further understands that, if it does not give its authorization 
hereunder or, in the alternative, adopt another pre-approved plan, its Plan will become an 
individually designed plan and will not be able to rely on the volume submitter advisory letter. 

- Page 211 -Item #17.



 

– 37 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

AN ORDINANCE (continued from page 1) 

Section 2.  Except as otherwise specifically required by law or by the terms of the Master 
Plan or Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum), the rights and obligations under the Plan with 
respect to persons whose employment with the City was terminated or who vacated his office with 
the City for any reason whatsoever prior to the effective date of this Ordinance are fixed and shall 
be governed by such Plan, if any, as it existed and was in effect at the time of such termination. 

Section 3.  The effective date of this Ordinance shall be May 11, 2023. 

Section 4.  All Ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 
repealed. 

Approved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia this _______ 
day of _____________________, 20_____. 

 
Attest:       CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 
 
    
City Clerk Mayor 
 
(SEAL) 
 
Approved: 
 
__________________________ 
City Attorney 
 

The terms of the foregoing Adoption Agreement are approved by the Board of Trustees of 
Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Trustees of Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit 
System has caused its Seal and the signatures of its duly authorized officers to be affixed this 
______ day of __________________________, 20____. 

 Board of Trustees 
 Georgia Municipal Employees 
 Benefit System 
 
(SEAL) 
   

Secretary 
 

 

- Page 212 -Item #17.



File Attachments for Item:

18. Second Reading, 2023-05:  Sec 5-050(C) Expanded Notification of Owners or Occupants

- Page 213 -Item #18.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-05 

ENTITLED: 

EXPANDED NOTIFICATION OF CERTAIN PROPERTY PETITIONS AND 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO AMEND THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 

CODE SECTION 5-050(C) TO EXPAND THE NOTICE APPLICABLE TO 

APPLICATIONS FOR RELIEF UNDER VARIOUS ACTIONS REQUESTED 

REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

(the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State 

of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its police and home 

rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City wishes to expand the notice applicable to applications for relief under 

various provisions requested which require public hearing so as to provide for notice to owners 

beyond just “adjacent” property owners; and  

  

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of Tybee 

Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended as follows: 

 

SECTION 1 

  

Land Development Code, Section 5-050(C) shall hereinafter read as follows: 

 

 Notification to Nearby Property Owners or Occupants.  At least 15 days, but not more than 

45 days, before the scheduled public hearing, the zoning administrator shall notify all neighboring 

property owners or occupants within a 200 foot radius of the location of the property for which the 

relief is requested on applications for rezoning, variance, special review and/or site plan approval.  

Notice, in addition to the date, time and place of the public hearing, shall include the location of 

the property and the relief sought.  Failure of the zoning administrator to send out notices, or the 

failure of the property owners or occupants to receive notification shall not affect the validity of 

any determination of an application, as this procedure exists as a supplement to the legally required 

notification procedures. 

 

SECTION 2 

 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or 

unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way effect the 

validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby declared as the intent of the City of 

- Page 214 -Item #18.



 
 

Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance would have been adopted had such invalid or 

unconstitutional portion not been included herein. 

 

SECTION 3 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed.   

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of Tybee 

Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such 

intention. 

 

SECTION 5 
  

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council pursuant to 

The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 2023. 

 

ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 2023. 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

ENACTED:     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

572.1 Land Development Code – Notice to Property Owners-Occupants 2-22-2023 

- Page 215 -Item #18.



File Attachments for Item:

19. Second Reading:  2023-06:  Sec 5-050, Single Family to Multifamily Rezoning

- Page 216 -Item #19.



- Page 217 -Item #19.



- Page 218 -Item #19.



File Attachments for Item:

20. Second Reading:  2023-07, Sec 5-060 Appeal of Zoning Decision

- Page 219 -Item #20.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-07 

ENTITLED: 

APPEAL OF ZONING DECISION AND 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE FOR THE CITY 

OF TYBEE ISLAND GEORGIA SO AS TO ADD A SUBSECTION OUTLINING THE 

APPEAL PROCESS FOR ZONING ACTIONS OR SUBDIVISION PROCEDURES AND 

FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

  

 

WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia to 

adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its police and home 

rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that the Land Development Code is in need of 

revision and updating so as to establish appeal standards uniform with the changes established by 

House Bill 1405 which amended the Zoning Procedures Law; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of Tybee 

Island as follows: 

 

SECTION I 

 

Section 5-060 of the Land Development Code is hereby amended to add a subsection that shall 

read as follows: 

 

(e) In the event that an applicant is dissatisfied with a zoning decision of the mayor and 

council, the applicant may, within 30 days of the written decision, challenge the decision 

of the mayor and council as required by O.C.G.A. § 36-66-5.1.  Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 

36-66-5.1(c), where an applicant challenges a decision, the Mayor shall serve as the 

designated elected official with the power to approve or issue any form or certificate 

necessary to perfect the applicant’s petition and who shall accept service of such petition 

on behalf of the mayor and council during normal business hours, at the offices of the local 

government.  

 

  

- Page 220 -Item #20.



SECTION II 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or 

unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way effect the 

validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby declared as the intent of the City of 

Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance would have been adopted had such invalid or 

unconstitutional portion not been included herein. 

SECTION III 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

 

SECTION IV 

 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of Tybee 

Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such 

intention. 

 

SECTION V 

 

 This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council pursuant to 

the code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

 

 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____________ day of _____________, 2023. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ______________, 2023. 

 

 

             

      MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________ 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING: ________________ 

SECOND READING:______________ 

ENACTED:______________________ 

 

 
572-1 Appeal of Zoning Decision 2-9-2023 

- Page 221 -Item #20.



File Attachments for Item:

21. Second Reading:  2023-08, Sec 5-060, Required Number of Public Hearings

- Page 222 -Item #21.



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-08 

ENTITLED: 

ZPL – PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURES AND 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE FOR THE CITY 

OF TYBEE ISLAND GEORGIA SECTION 5-060, SO AS TO REVISE THE REQUIRED 

NUMBER OF HEARINGS IN ORDER TO OBTAIN A PERMIT IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH THE ZONING PROCEDURES LAW AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

  

 

WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia 

to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 

is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its police and 

home rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that the Land Development Code is in need of 

revision and updating so as to establish standards uniform with the changes established by House 

Bill 1405 which amended the Zoning Procedures Law; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of 

Tybee Island as follows: 

 

SECTION I 

 

The introductory paragraph of Section 5-060 of the Land Development Code is hereby amended 

so that hereafter such paragraph shall read as follows: 

  

Whenever a zoning action or subdivision procedures take place, a hearing must be held before 

the public. Unless otherwise required by law, only one official public hearing is required for text 

amendments, rezonings, special uses, and concurrent variances, or any combination thereof. In 

Tybee Island there are two public hearings held for each zoning action or subdivision procedure; 

one before the planning commission and the other before the mayor and council. The public 

hearing before the mayor and council is by record the official public hearing. The purpose of 

each public hearing is to discuss information pertinent to the particular action or procedure. 

During the hearing the following rules and actions shall be followed: 

 

  

- Page 223 -Item #21.



SECTION II 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or 

unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way effect the 

validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby declared as the intent of the City of 

Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance would have been adopted had such invalid or 

unconstitutional portion not been included herein. 

SECTION III 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

 

SECTION IV 

 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of 

Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such 

intention. 

 

SECTION V 

 

 This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council pursuant to 

the code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

 

 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____________ day of _____________, 2023. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ______________, 2023. 

 

 

             

      MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________ 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING: ________________ 

SECOND READING:______________ 

ENACTED:______________________ 

 

 

 

 

572-1 ZPL – Public Hearing 2/9/2023 

- Page 224 -Item #21.



File Attachments for Item:

22. Second Reading:  2023-11, Sec 3-TBD, to Restrict STR Permits in the R-1, R-1B and R-2

- Page 225 -Item #22.



ORIGINAL Z-2 in WORD 

Revised 9-28-22 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-04 

ENTITLED: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF 

TYBEE ISLAND GEORGIA, SO AS TO REVISE PERMISSIBLE USES IN 

RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS SPECIFICALLY R-1, R-1-B AND R-2 SO AS TO 

CLARIFY THE SAME AND TO RECOGNIZE EXISTING AND ONGOING 

PROPERLY PERMITTED  SHORT-TERM RENTALS OF PROPERTIES IN SUCH 

ZONES BUT TO RECOGNIZE OR ADDRESS ANY PROPERTY CURRENTLY 

OPERATED AS A SHORT-TERM RENTAL PROPERTY IN SUCH ZONES, AND 

CONSIDER WHETHER SUCH  USES SHALL BE AUTHORIZED TO CONTINUE 

SUBJECT TO THE TERMS CONTAINED HEREIN AND TO FURTHER AMEND THE 

CODE SO AS TO CLARIFY THE TERMS THEREOF BY WAY OF APPROPRIATE 

DEFINITIONS, TO PROVIDE FOR STANDARDS BY WHICH PREVIOUSLY 

OPERATED LOCATIONS AND NOW TO BE POTENTIALLY NON-CONFORMING 

USES THAT MAY BE DISCONTINUED, ABANDONED AND NO LONGER  BECOME  

SHORT-TERM RENTAL PROPERTIES, AS DEFINED HEREIN AND TO CREATE 

REVIEW PROCEDURES RELATED TO ANY DISPUTES AS TO THE 

DISCONTINUANCE OF SUCH USES AND TO REPEAL CONFLICTING 

PROVISIONS, TO ESTABLISH AN EFFECTIVE DATE AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES. 

 

 

WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia to 

adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to revise zoning definitions and adopt 

ordinances under its police and home rule powers; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island has conducted numerous public hearings, surveys, 

focus group sessions, stakeholder conference calls and other means of gauging public opinion over 

a period of years, all on the subject of rentals for under 30 days.  While these activities have been 

held covering all zoning areas on Tybee, this ordinance addresses rental activity within the R-1, 

R-1-B and R-2 areas only; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the community has a limited number of housing units contained within these 

three residential zones and is seeking to protect and maintain the quantity and diversity of housing 

options for the general public in accordance with the Tybee Island master plan.  The character of 

the island’s residential community is an important feature for residents and for any visitor on the 

- Page 226 -Item #22.



island.  The existing tourist trade is very dependent upon this diversity and on the unique character 

currently found in these zones; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island has demonstrated that the usage of this limited 

residential housing stock has become increasingly dominated by rentals for less than thirty days, 

and in many cases, high turnover rentals with stays of less than five days.  These units are also 

increasingly operated by absent owners, agents, investment firms and other real estate operations 

with no connection to the Tybee Island community, as demonstrated during the many sessions for 

public input.  This increase has been verified by third party software purchased by the City with 

the intent to identify and monitor these Short-Term Rentals.  The methods and results of this 

software have been made extensively public and have been thoroughly examined; and  

 

 WHEREAS, additionally, while anecdotal evidence demonstrates that behavior by this 

transient, rental population has improved significantly over the last few years, this has not been 

achieved without significant dedication of resources by the City of Tybee Island well as significant 

cooperation from local owner/operators, including, but not limited to, the creation of strict 

residential noise ordinances, sign ordinances, a dedicated complaint hotline, occupancy 

restrictions, and an entire dedicated enforcement department enforcing ordinances through 

citations.  These efforts demonstrate the need for continued regulation of this expanding short term 

rental industry within the residential zones; and 

 

WHEREAS, cities must from time to time update existing zoning definitions to keep pace 

with changes in technology, population trends and land usages.  The City of Tybee Island has 

determined that the increase in online reservation systems and other peer to peer technology 

breakthroughs has substantially altered the face of the tourism industry and this plays a significant 

role in changing the character of neighborhoods within these residential zones; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has conducted a carrying capacity study that addresses the impact of 

density and consequences upon the City’s infrastructure and which calls for restrictions beyond 

those previously imposed upon certain uses, including Short-Term Rentals; and  

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of Tybee 

Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended so as to provide as follows: 

 

  

- Page 227 -Item #22.



SECTION 1 – PURPOSE AND INTENT 

 

 The purpose of this ordinance is to clarify the definitions and uses for certain residential 

zoning districts.   Section 4-050(A)(B) and (C) of Article 4 of the Land Development Code shall 

be amended so as to include the following sections for all buildings and structures located within 

zoning districts R-1, R-1-B and R-2.    Except as set forth herein, no residence, structure or building 

within zones R-1, R-1-B and R-2, shall be operated as a Short-Term Rental or leased or rented or 

held available for rental for less than thirty days. Existing and ongoing properly permitted Short-

Term Rentals which have been operated within the City in zones R-1, R-1-B and R-2 prior to the 

effective date hereof shall not be a use as of right, but rather, such use will be a nonconforming 

use hereafter, except for owner occupied locations as authorized below or in other sections of the 

Code of Ordinances.    

 

  

- Page 228 -Item #22.



SECTION 2 – DEFINITIONS 

 

The following words and phrases, as used in this article, shall have the following meanings:  

Authorized agent means the owner's agent or the owner's designee who is normally available 

and authorized to respond to any issues arising from a short-term rental unit within two hours and 

who is authorized to receive written notice on behalf of the owner.  

Cap means the maximum number of properties that may be licensed for Short-Term rental 

use in a given zoning district which may be later defined or established with a restricted zoning 

designation.  The cap may be calculated as a percentage of the total number of developed dwelling 

units and developable lots within a zoning district or, alternately, as a flat number, not a percentage.  

Once a zoning district has met its cap, a waiting list or other means of determining eligibility for a 

permit may be established for properties which seek to obtain a short-term vacation rental permit. 

Nonconforming use means the use of any land, building, or structure which does not conform 

with currently applicable use regulations, but which complied with use regulations in effect at the 

time the use was established.  

Short-term rental (STR) property means an accommodation for guests where, in exchange for 

compensation, a residential dwelling unit is provided for lodging for a period of time less than 30 

consecutive days.  Such use may or may not include an on-site manager.  For the purposes of this 

definition, a residential dwelling shall include all housing types.  This is also identified as “STR”.  

This shall exclude bed and breakfast accommodations as they are currently defined by the City of 

Tybee’s land development code.  However, bed and breakfast establishments are required to have 

occupational tax certificates, and to pay taxes and fees as required by law or ordinance. 

Sublet rentals is a property which is leased from its owner on a long-term basis (30 days or 

longer) but then made available by the lessee for short term rental or occupancy to a different party 

and shall be considered a short-term rental and both lessor and lessee are subject to ordinances 

regulating short term rentals. 

 

  

- Page 229 -Item #22.



SECTION 3 – NOTICE OF AND ABANDONMENT OF NONCONFORMING USE 

 

 If a property holding a Short-Term Rental permit in zoning districts R-1, R-1-B and R-2 

fails to conduct short term rentals (rentals of less than 30 days each), at least 90 days of rental at 

full market value within the preceding 12-month period, it shall be presumed that such short-term 

rental use has been abandoned and therefore such use shall be unauthorized.  It is the owner or 

rental operator’s burden to establish the rentals.  The existence of rentals shall be proven by the 

applicable tax returns filed by the owner for that location.  In the event tax returns or other 

verifiable tax documentation are not available due to the rental occurring, or allegedly occurring, 

through a marketplace innkeeper or an online booking service, (such as Airbnb or similar 

providers), the owner may establish rentals through other documentation including rental records 

to the City’s satisfaction.  No new permit or renewal of a permit shall be granted if an owner or 

rental operator fails to make this showing of rentals.  Any new owner seeking a permit is 

responsible to demonstrate the prior property owner’s rental history. 

 

Any previously operated Short-Term Rental within the R-1, R-1-B and R-2 zoning districts 

which is determined abandoned will no longer be allowed to operate as a Short-Term Rental.  

 

 Any property holding an STR permit is exempt from the above requirement to establish 

the short-term rental history for any period where the property is subject to a written lease for a 

long-term rental.  “Long term rental” as used herein means a bona fide written lease agreement for 

a period of 30 days or more. 

 

  

- Page 230 -Item #22.



SECTION 4 – ALLOWANCES 

 

 In locations other than properties zoned R-1, R-1B or R-2, notwithstanding any other 

provisions in the Code of Ordinances, a Short-Term Rental use is allowable in any zoning districts 

as long as the Short-Term Rental location and the owners, agents or representatives for such 

location are in full compliance with all provisions of the City’s then current Short-Term Rental 

Ordinance currently codified at 34-260, et seq. including but not limited to all requirements 

regarding the payment of taxes, compliance with the Good Neighbor Policy, enforcement of the 

occupancy limits, compliance with noise and other regulations and such property has avoided 

citations for violating the Disorderly House Ordinance.   

 

Any structure on a property that contains multiple STR units must have a permit for each 

separate unit.  In zones R-1, R-1B and R-2,   if a property identified by a single parcel identification 

number per official tax records, has more than one structure on it that contains an STR unit, only 

one structure is eligible to apply for a permit.   

 

  

- Page 231 -Item #22.



SECTION 5 – CAPS IN CERTAIN ZONING DISTRICTS 

 

 For purposes of this section, a restricted zoning designation category or cap shall be any 

zoning district in which an ordinance exists limiting the number of authorized Short-Term Rental 

units in that particular district.  In the event a cap on Short-Term Rental units exists for a certain 

zoning district and a permitted unit in that district is thereafter disqualified for a rental permit, that 

unit’s permit shall be void.   No new location or unit will be issued a Short-Term Rental permit to 

operate as an STR in any restricted zoning designation district which has already issued permits 

equaling the cap.  Exceptions to this prohibition of issuing new permits over any cap may be 

allowed as set forth by ordinance.  The City may establish a waiting list or other means of 

determining eligibility for a permit for locations in a restricted zoning designation district as 

necessary. 

 

  

- Page 232 -Item #22.



SECTION 6 – NEW PERMITS PROHIBITED 

 

No new permits are allowable in R-1, R-1-B, and R-2 zones except as otherwise provided 

herein. 

 

  

- Page 233 -Item #22.



SECTION 7 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

 

 This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council pursuant to 

the code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

 

 The provisions of this ordinance were previously adopted by Council following public 

hearings and all sections became effective 10-13-22 except Sections 3 and 4 which were to be 

effective May 1, 2023 as pursuant to a motion made at the meeting.  This current ordinance 

readopts all sections of the ordinance confirming the provisions; the terms of Sections 3 and 4 

are to be effective on May 1, 2023.   

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ______________, 2023. 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

       MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING: _______________ 

 

SECOND READING:  ____________ 

 

ENACTED: _____________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Page 234 -Item #22.



4892-9814-4027.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Original Z-2 in Word – Main – Revised 9-28-2022 

Original Z-2 in Word – Main – Revised 8-15-1022  
Original Z-2 in Word – Main – Revised 8-11-2022 

Amended STVR Ordinance W-O Hardship – 5-31-2022 – By Section 

- Page 235 -Item #22.



File Attachments for Item:

23. Second Reading:  2023-12; Sec 3-TBD, to allow for an Exception to the STR Abandonment 

Clause in Cases of Certain Calamities

- Page 236 -Item #23.



- Page 237 -Item #23.



- Page 238 -Item #23.



- Page 239 -Item #23.



- Page 240 -Item #23.



File Attachments for Item:

24. TIMSC Minutes, March 20, 2023

- Page 241 -Item #24.



Minutes of March 20, 2023 
  
Present: Doug Duch, Jeanne Hutton, Kathryn Williams, Carol Pride, Dave Makel, Katie 
Wohlust, Jim Bentley, Jim Alexander, and Executive Director, Chantal Audran 
 
Zoom:  Ruthie Wilson, Nancy Daves, Mark Reed*, and Karen Robertson* 
 * Internet connection failed  

 
Welcome/Introductions:  Duch welcomed Jim Alexander as our newest board member.  
Jim was elected online on January 31st.   
 
Minutes of the January 23, 2023 meeting: Approved online by majority vote and 
submitted to the Clerk of Council, Tybee Island. 
 
Executive-Director Bimonthly Report:  Audran provided a comprehensive update on the 
2023 goals and objectives.   
    Communications: 

 Website will go live at the beginning of April. 

 Wayfinding signage was approved by the city. 

 Southface site visit went well. 

 Turtle Trot PR will increase. 
   Programming 

 Sea Camp has been expanded; only 4 spots are still available. 

 Audran will serve as the #2 contact for the sea turtle this season.  She and staff 
will be more involved in the program.   

 Admission fees will increase to $12 on June 1st; Program fees will increase from 
$15 to $20 and will include gallery admission. 

 Collection training is on-going; staff is building the Behind the Scenes 
(quarantine) display. 

Exhibit Fabrication  

 Fossil room is complete; slide show is now live. 

 Signage for the solar project is complete.  

 Sea turtle exhibit work continues; meeting held with Kris Williams of the Caretta 
Sea Turtle Project. 

 Birding exhibit is complete. 
Operations 

 Staff enrichment is scheduled for May on Sapelo Island. 

 Annual data collection reports have been updated and data collection is on-
going.  

 Collection permits are being renewed. 

 Turtle Trot is scheduled for April 27th.  Sponsorship numbers are strong, but 
participant numbers are down. 

 

- Page 242 -Item #24.



Infrastructure 

 Elevator was inspected; required phone line will be added. 

 Metal barriers are being designed and installed around the solar panels. 
 
Finance Committee:  Duch reported that January and February are significantly ahead of 
last year: Programs revenue Up 41%, Gallery Admissions up 52%, and Discovery Shop 
sales up 49%.  (See attached financial summary) 
     Budget:  Audran presented the 2023 budget.  Williams moved to approve proposed 
budget; Duch seconded; motion was approved unanimously. 
     Wage/Benefit Proposal:  Williams presented a wage/benefit plan for 2023.  Hutton 
moved to approve the proposal with the condition that the committee come back with a 
compensation plan for 2024 at the July 24th meeting; seconded by Alexander; motion 
was approved unanimously. 
      
Infrastructure Committee: Makel and Reed provided updates on the following:  
proposed restrooms, final GoodUse grant inspection forms, and nomination for Energy 
Matters Award.  Pending projects:  relocate backyard foot washing station and stain 
pergola. 
 
Communications:  Wilson reported that she and Audran have been working with Main 
Street/Visit Tybee to increase the visibility of the center.  Audran has delivered updated 
materials to Tybee Vacation Rentals and is working on packets for the other rental 
management programs.  TIMSC will host the Visit Tybee meeting on April 10th and the 
Main Street Mix and Mingle on September 12th.  Robertson has issued multiple press 
releases in recent weeks covering Audran’s promotion, new board members, Turtle 
Talks, and the Turtle Trot. An SSU intern will be working on small grants.  TIMSC will 
participate in the Lazaretto Day event.  A QR membership code will be created and 
posted throughout the center. 
 
Policy & Procedures:  Hutton reported that the committee is meeting weekly.  They are 
working through the employee handbook word by word.  Audran and the officers will 
review the draft with plans to bring the document to the full board in August for review 
and approval. 
 
Daves:  Thanked Audran for hosting a group of whale conservationists.  Fundraising 
continues for the Right Whale exhibit. 
 
Meeting adjourned. 
 
Submitted by Kathryn Williams 

- Page 243 -Item #24.


